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Submission Statement

Hon. Mark McGowan
Minister for Education and Training
21st Floor,
Governor Stirling Tower,
197 St Georges Terrace
PERTH WA 6000

Dear Minister

In accordance with Section 54 of the Vocational Education and Training Act 1996 and 
Section 66 of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985, we have pleasure in submitting for 
your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of C.Y. O’Connor College 
of TAFE for the year ending 31 December 2006.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial 
Administration and Audit Act 1985 and the Vocational Education and Training Act 1996.

Steven Pollard           Peter Mahler
Acting Chair, Governing Council      Managing Director
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE      C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE
27 February 2006           27 February 2006
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Statement from the 
Chair of the Governing Council

Governing Council members 2006

The highlight of 2006 has to be the success enjoyed 
at the state and national training awards for the 
joint project with the Western Australian Country 
Health Service — Wheatbelt. It is a remarkable 
achievement for a small regional college to not 
only win its nominated national category but also 
the inaugural Innovative Business Award. It is a 
testament to the project and the staff involved. 

The Governing Council has again welcomed new 
members in 2006, bringing on board a number 
of regional members placed outside of the major 
regional Wheatbelt centres. These members bring 
a wealth of ability and experience to the Council, 
and are able to be advocates for the College in 
diverse localities throughout the region.

It is important for the College to grow and 
overcome future challenges. To encourage and 
assist this there is a need for the Governing Council 
to take a proactive approach in advocating for 
the College to the wider community. As a group 
we are ideally placed throughout the community 
to undertake this role, while still ensuring the 
accountability of the College.

Throughout the year the College has continued 
to forge and strengthen its regional partnerships 
with local communities at all levels. The College 
enjoys strong partnerships with local industry, 
community organisations, government agencies 
and secondary schools.

The drought conditions throughout the Wheatbelt 
in 2006 have presented challenges for everyone. 
This has been no exception for the College or its 
Governing Council. Every challenge presents an 
opportunity for an innovative solution, and I feel 
that the College possessed the right people to 
overcome every challenge that presented in 2006, 
and will be able to continue to take the College over 
any obstacles that the future may present.

The College’s strength lies with a talented and 
dedicated pool of staff committed to the College’s 
vision to be the regional provider of choice for 
education, training and lifelong learning in the 
Wheatbelt. 

Steven Pollard
Acting Chair, Governing Council
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Membership of the Governing Council

Heidi Astbury is a 
staff representative and 
Principal Lecturer at C.Y. 
O’Connor College of 
TAFE in Narrogin.

Steven Pollard is Acting Chair 
of the Governing Council 
and Proprietor of SB Pollard 
Accountants in Northam. He is also 
involved in several community 
organisations as a volunteer.

Peter Mahler is 
Managing Director of 
C.Y. O’Connor College 
of TAFE and Deputy 
Chair of the Australian 
Grains Institute.

Peter Trefort is the 
Managing Director 
of Hillside Meats in 
Narrogin.

Suzanne Waters is an 
Advanced Skills Lecturer 
in Children’s Services at 
C.Y. O’Connor College of 
TAFE. She is also a State 
School Teachers Union W.A. 
Representative.

Grant Arthur is the 
Assistant Director of the 
Wheatbelt Development 
Commission in Northam.

Andrew Drummond 
is the student 
representative.

Sally Higgins is the 
Mayor of the Town of 
Narrogin.

Celia Martin is a 
representative from the 
Wheatbelt Aboriginal 
Corporation.

C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE is a Statutory Authority with a Governing Council responsible 
to the Minister for Education and Training.

The Governing Council has the authority, conferred by the Vocational Education and Training 
Act 1996, to perform the following functions:

• Prepare a College Training Profile for the approval of the Minister and when required by the 
Minister.

• Develop and implement strategic and management plans for the College.
• To monitor the college’s performance and initiate improvements where necessary.
• Ensure that College courses, programs and services are responsive to, and meet the needs of 

students, industry and the community.
• Ensure that the College’s commitments under its Resource Agreement and any other contractual 

arrangements are met.
The Governing Council, under the act, delegates the strategic operation and management of the 
College to the Managing Director.

Ian Landsmeer 
was Chair of the 
Governing Council 
2006.

Jan Court is proficient, 
positive and committed 
to communities.

Maree Gooch is a 
Primary Producer 
from Beverley.

Eileen O’Connell 
is President of the 
Shire of Nungarin 
and also involved in 
many community and 
sporting groups.
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Managing Director’s
Summary 2006

This year saw the College gain recognition at the 
highest level, winning one state and two national 
awards. At the WA Training Awards in September 
the College won the Pretzel Logic Access & Equity 
Award for the Existing Worker Traineeships in 
Aged Care Program in collaboration with the WA 
Country Health Service — Wheatbelt. While the 
College previously won this Award in 1999, the 
judging panel of this year’s award said that the 
Existing Worker Traineeship Program set a new 
benchmark for the award.

The College and WACHS—Wheatbelt capitalised 
on this achievement through winning two awards 
at the National Training Awards in November. 
The Program won its nominated category, the 
Australian Training Initiative Award, against 
some strong competition, and then also won the 
Innovative Business Award for demonstrating 
excellence in integrating technology in the 
operation of business and staff training. This 
was a new category in 2006, with the nominees 
taken from category winners, and again feedback 
suggested that the program set an impressive 
benchmark for the Award.

In addition to these achievements, the College was 
also short-listed for the Large Training Provider 
of the Year Awards at the WA Training Awards. 
These successes reflect the College’s commitment 
to the region and the hard work undertaken by all 
staff who perform to an extra-ordinary level in the 
course of their ordinary duties.

The College has continued to show innovation 
across all areas. In addition to the Existing Worker 
Traineeship Program, we have undertaken a 
number of new programs in collaboration with 
industry partners, secondary schools and with 
research and development, in addition to working 
with the local community.

This year the College expanded its commitment to 
access and equity through increased staffing in this 
area, the appointment of a new Access and Equity 
Officer, and the commencement of a number of 
programs for target equity groups. November saw 
the establishment of the James Dawson Award, 
named in honour of the College’s long-serving 
Access and Equity Officer who passed away in 

2005, to recognise 
t h e  e f f o r t s  o f 
an exceptional 
student with a 
disability. This 
a r e a  h a s  a l s o 
developed the 
CYOC Access program to improve the College’s 
services to people with disabilities, involving 
identifying needs, encouraging disclosure, working 
with local schools on transition to TAFEWA, and 
education for College staff.

The College has also made a substantial 
commitment to development of a Commercial 
Services Arm, established under the business 
name Wheatbelt Connect. Since the appointment 
of a manager to this area this year we have seen 
considerable growth, with the delivery of a number 
of industry-specific courses and success with 
tenders and grants. There are plans in place for 
2007 to be another year of growth.

The year also saw some significant successes for 
our Trades and Industries area. The Boekeman 
Academy, a collaborative enterprise with Boekeman 
Machinery, saw a number of young student 
complete pre-apprenticeships on the job and lead 
to impressive employment outcomes. The Trades 
facilities at Northam and Narrogin have also 
undergone improvements and now offer excellent 
facilities. The introduction of the Recreational 
Skippers’ Ticket has also given the area a boost, 
leading to a training demand across the Wheatbelt 
that we have been able to successfully fulfil.

For all the Awards, the Existing Worker Traineeship 
program was a great boon to the Wheatbelt, 
leading to the up-skilling of an overwhelming 
majority of Aged Care Workers across the region. 
The Wheatbelt has among the highest skilled Aged 
Care workers in Western Australia.

The College has maintained a firm commitment to 
its community service obligations. Over the year 
we have delivered a number of training programs 
targeted for equity groups, aboriginal training in 
governance, in addition to allowing community 
groups access to our facilities.
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Continued efforts to nurture existing and 
new alliances with industry, business and 
community groups have strengthened the 
College’s links with the region. In addition to 
existing alliances, including the Springfield 
Waters Aquaculture Facility, new partnerships 
have been forged with local governments, 
businesses such as Boekeman Machinery, 
and community projects including the Act, 
Belong, Commit campaign conducted by the 
WA Health Department.

The Business Plan implemented in 2004 and 
aimed at ensuring the long-term sustainability 
and growth of the College has remained on 
track throughout the year. This year has also 
seen considerable work in the development of 
a new Strategic Plan which outlines specifically 
the priorities for the College which also align 
with State and Federal training policies.

The College has also been proactive in 
addressing the State’s skills shortages, 
especially in traditional trades and agricultural 
professions. We have seen a significant increase 
in the number of apprentices and trainees 
undertaking training through the College, and 
have more than met our targets. 

Through projects such as the Inland Saline 
Aquaculture Demonstration Farm at Northam and 
the Salmon Gum Conservation Nursery at Moora, 
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE is continuing to 
demonstrate a commitment to innovation and to 
the sustainability of the Wheatbelt region. 

Our students remain the lifeblood of the College 
and continue to strive for excellence in their 
studies. This year’s survey of Student Satisfaction 
by Colmar Brunton Intelligence found 89% of our 
students to be satisfied with their training, 3% 
greater than the state average. The survey also 
found only 2% of our students to be dissatisfied 
with their training, a figure 4% better than the 
State average.

The Wheatbelt is an area over twice the size of 
Tasmania, sparsely populated and presenting 
a unique challenge in its diversity. Servicing 
this area requires flexibility, innovation and 
dedication across the College and I thank 
all staff for their contributions. The ongoing 
success of the college is a direct reflection 
of their efforts and I commend them. I also 
acknowledge the effort and guidance of the 
Governing Council in advocating for the 
College throughout the Region.

Peter Mahler
Managing Director
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Strategic Directions

To be the regional provider of choice 
for eduction, training and lifelong 
learning in the communities we 
serve.

Vision

Leading the Wheatbelt Region into a 
sustainable future by:

• Providing relevant lifelong learning 
opportunities; 

• Providing quality education and 
training through learning options 
and effective partnerships; 

• Enhancing the community's skills 
to further economic, environmental 
and social development; 

• Developing our staff to increase 
their knowledge and skills enabling 
them to provide relevant training 
services;

• Being reconised by the community 
as a valued citizen. 

Mission

C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE is 
committed to:

Customer Service
Providing customers with a quality 
service which they value and is 
responsive to their needs.
Learning and Development
Providing a learning and working 
environment that is friendly, 
inclusive and provides personal 
and professional development.
Continuous Improvement and 
Innovation
A c t i v e  p a r t i c i p a t i o n  i n  t h e 
development and implementation 
of training services in response to 
changing community needs.
Access and Equity
Equitable access to services and 
facilities ergardless of age, gender, 
culture, disablity or distance from a 
learning centre
Organisational and Personal 
Integrity
An Environment that is guided by 
the values and principles of honesty, 
consultation, and respect.
Achievement of organisational 
outcomes
Recognising personal achievement 
a n d  m e e t i n g  o r g a n i s a t i o n a l 
outcomes.

Values
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College Priorities

Providing relevant lifelong learning opportunities

College learning strategies and programs will be 
recognised as being responsive to industry driven client 

lifelong learning needs.

Providing quality education and training through 
learning options and effective partnerships

Enhancing the community’s skills to further economic,
environmental and social development

Developing our staff to increase their knowledge and skills, 
enabling them to provide relevant training services

CYOC employees will be a high quality 
and capable workforce.

Being recognised by the community as a valued citizen

CYOC will contribute to and be a valued 
member of the community.

To meet the 
diverse needs 

of clients in our 
community.

Promote public 
awareness and 
participation.

Develop 
effective training 

pathways.

Identify 
community 

training needs.

Foster 
environmental 
awareness and 
adopt practices 

that are conducive 
to learning.

Effective 
and valued 

partnerships.

Implementing 
teaching 

and learning 
strategies that are 

innovative, flexible 
and responsive 

to client learning 
needs.

To provide a 
customer focus 

for training.
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Services and Facilities
We provide Aboriginal Program Assistants and 
two Aboriginal Development Officers to assist 
community groups and individuals, encouraging 
participation and completion of training by 
Indigenous members of the community. 

The College Grievance Officers are available 
to students and staff throughout the college to 
address any issues or concerns.

C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE is committed 
to providing a very high quality of training and 
associated services for our students.

Services based at the Northam campus include:
• the Bookshop which carries a range of 

materials and books relevant to TAFE training. 
Mail orders are accepted to ensure all students 
have access;

• the Canteen which provides refreshments and 
nutritious food in an air-conditioned facility, 
where students and staff are welcome to 
gather;

• the Library which provides a variety of materials 
including books, pamphlets, video recordings, 
audiocassettes, microfiche and journals. The 
library provides CD-Roms and overnight 
loan. Students are invited to borrow books 
by mail. This year the library has completed a 
stocktake of all the library resources. Staff have 
conducted a thorough weeding of the stock 
in order to update the resources. The library 
surrounds have also been modified(within 
limited budgetary constraints) to enable easier 
access. The library has increased its institutional 
borrowers enabling better community relations 
to promote the college. 

• the Equity Officer 
 who provides assistance 

to students who are 
experiencing barriers to 
learning.

Each campus has computers 
available for student use.

Library, Northam Campus

Canteen, Northam 
Campus

Skills Recognition is offered to those with 
experience in the field of their chosen qualification. 
This is the formal acknowledgement of skills, 
knowledge and competencies that individuals 
have gained through work, informal training and 
life experience.
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College Environment
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE is an autonomous 
College and is part of the Australian Vocational 
Education and Training System, operating under 
the National Training Framework and Australian 
Qualification Framework. Training is offered 
across all levels from Certificates I, II, III and IV to 
Diplomas and Advanced Diplomas.

The College is an innovative and progressive 
training organisation, committed to meeting 
the education and training needs of Western 
Australia’s Wheatbelt region. In recognition 
of exemplary services, the College won the 
prestigious Premier’s Award for “Services to Rural 
and Remote Communities”. In 2006 the College 
also won the inaugural Business Innovation Award 
at the Australian Training Awards.

Our vision reflects the desire to be the regional 
provider of choice for education, training and 
lifelong learning in the communities we service. 
We have adopted a culture of continuous 
improvement which enables the College to 
encourage organisational growth and development 
to improve our ways of working. 

The College is committed to enhancing relationships 
with communities, industry and individual 
enterprises by being responsive to the skills and 
knowledge requirements of public and private 
sector organisations. C.Y. O’Connor is unique in the 
flexibility and versatility of its offerings through a 
variety of delivery options and partnerships which 
meet industry training needs.

C.Y. O’Connor College has a strong customer 
focus in delivery and assessment and is committed 
to maximising student, customer and staff 
satisfaction by actively monitoring, reviewing 
and continuously improving and customising 
our products and services. The International 
Standards Organisation and Australian Quality 
Training Framework Standards accreditation and 
auditing processes ensure the College operates 
efficiently and effectively. The increase in the 
student satisfaction rate from 85% in 2005 to 89% 
in 2006 reflects this focus.

C.Y. O’Connor College was established in 1995 and 
is comprised of four regional campuses, located 
in Merredin, Moora, Narrogin and Northam. 
Additional TAFE centres operate in Bindoon, 
Jurien Bay, Kellerberrin, Kondinin, Pingelly and 
Quairading. The College also has partnerships 

with many of the 43 Telecentres throughout the 
region. With an area of 154,000 square kilometres 
encompassing 44 different shires, and a population 
of 72,000, the Wheatbelt Region is one of Western 
Australia’s most sparsely distributed regions. 

The College supports the pursuit of sustainability 
in the Wheatbelt and embraces sustainability 
principles in its day to day operations, planning 
activities, and in the delivery of Vocational 
Education and Training services. All employees 
are encouraged and empowered to support 
sustainability.

C.Y. O’ Connor College of TAFE provides a 
diverse range of services including:

• Vocational education consultancy and 
competency-based training according to 
the Australian Quality Training Framework 
(AQTF);

• Short course programs and just-in-time 
training;

• Corporate training;
• Industry consultancy;
• Delivery of VET for schools;
• Provision of curriculum and learning materials 

(including electronic access);
• Auspicing services for work-based training;
• Research and Development consultancies;
• Career Counselling and job readiness skills;
• Work Based Delivery and Assessment/

Traineeship and Apprenticeships to New and 
Existing Employers;

• Holistic Skills Recognition.
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Organisational Structure

Managing Director
Peter Mahler

A/Director 
Research & Planning
Delia Pascua-McGlew

Director 
Academic Services

Vacant

Regional Manager
Northern Region

Dean O’Callaghan

A/Portfolio Director
Primary Industries & 
Learning Enterprises
Peter McGlew

Academic Policy & 
Projects Manager

Kathy Pollard

Manager Finance
Vacant

Regional Manager
Eastern Region
Ric Newman

Regional Manager
Southern Region
Sandra English

A/Manager 
Community Relations

Russell Farr

Manager Quality 
& Planning

Darryl Forward

Aboriginal 
Development Officer- 

Northern
Les Martin

Portfolio Director
Business & 

Social Sciences
John Smoker

Manager Customer 
Services

Tiffany Maddox

A/Portfolio Director
Trades & Industry

Peter Chiffings

Principal Lecturer
Peter Forbes

Principal Lecturer
Heidi Astbury

Manager Human 
Resources

Michael Bowman

Manager 
Information 
Technology

Brenden O’Driscoll

Manager Learning 
Resource

Vacant

Aboriginal
Development Officer- 

Southern
Raelene Kickett

Disability Services 
Co-ordinator

Samantha Connor

Manager 
Commerical Services

Michelle Pratt

Director Corporate 
Services

David Rampono

A/Data Administrator 
Tony Seddon
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Desired Outcomes for 
Public Training Providers

Provide Vocational Education and Training 
consistent with a College Training Profile;

Provide to an employer, a group of employers 
or any other persons or authorities such Fee-for-
Service training programs as are authorised by the 
Minister for Training;

Undertake research and development related to 
Vocational Education and Training which has a 
direct practical application to industry, commerce 
and the community;

Promote equality of opportunity in the undertaking 
of Vocational Education and Training;

Provide or arrange for the delivery of services to 
students;

Participate in initiatives involving the whole of 
the State training system and collaborate with 
other Colleges and educational institutions to 
ensure the greatest effectiveness and economy in 
expenditure and the most beneficial relationship 
with other Colleges and educational institutions 
throughout the State;

Contribute to the general development of the 
community in the region of the College through 
activities such as the provision of adult and 
community education, as may be  authorised by 
the Minister;

Provide, on behalf of another education authority, 
post-secondary education as is approved by the 
Minister.

The College performs functions as conferred on it by the 
Vocational Education and Training (VET) Act 1996 

or by the Minister by order published in the 
Government Gazette as detailed below:

Display, 
Northam 

Recreation 
Centre, 

Centrelink 
Expo.
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Report on Operations
Business and Social Sciences

Danica Kay, Trainee of the Year

Courses which come under this portfolio include: 
Business Management, Financial Services, 
Community Services, Visual Art, Training 
and Assessment, Information Technology and 
Multimedia.

BSS delivers approximately 40% of the College’s 
total training hours across the whole region. 
Modes of delivery include traineeships, face 
to face classes, workshops, short courses and 
external self-paced learning.

Achievements
The Aged Care Existing Worker Traineeship 
Program, a joint project with the WA Country 
Health Service—Wheatbelt, won one state and 
two national training awards. In September 
the program won the Pretzel Logic Access and 
Equity Award at the WA Training Awards. In 
November the program won the Australian 
Training Initiative Award and the inaugural 
Innovative Business Award.

In December a graduation for the Aged Care 
Existing Worker Trainees was held at the York 
Town Hall and saw over 300 attendees.

Danica Kay, a Business Administration Trainee 
from Bindoon won the College’s Trainee of the 
Year Award at the Student Award Celebration 
held in March 2006.

A two-year Multimedia project commenced 
in delivering Certificate II in Multimedia to 
students at Narrogin Senior High School.

The BSS area was involved in an e-Governance 
Indigenous Engagement Project funded by the 
Australian Flexible Learning Framework in 
collaboration with the Western Institute and 
North Coast Institute of TAFENSW. This two-
year project involved establishing a mentor 
program for students and an online learning 
management system to assist students in a 
strategy to encourage Aboriginal people to 
participate in Local Government.

A very successful whole of College end of year 
Art exhibition was held at Gate’s Gallery in 

Darlington in December, showcasing an impressive 
display of work by students throughout 2006.

BSS staff dominated the nominations for College 
Staff Excellence Awards, in recognition of excellent 
delivery in a number of challenging situations 
including prison delivery and in youth engagement 
programs.

The establishment of a School of Enrolled Nursing 
within the college with the aim to delivering 
full certificate nursing courses and short topical 
courses.

The area saw a steady growth in school-based 
traineeships incorporating core Community Service 
Units with electives taken from the Children’s 
Services training package.

Priorities for 2006
Adding the new Information Technology training 
package to the College’s scope and subsequent 
delivery.

Commencement of delivery of full courses from the 
School of Enrolled Nursing in Narrogin and other 
areas in the Wheatbelt.
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Primary Industries and Learning Enterprises

Report on Operations

Primary Industries and Learning Enterprises 
provides a wide range of training in the areas 
of Rural Production, Conservation and Land 
Management, Amenity Horticulture, Children’s 
Services, Teacher Assistant and Adult Literacy 
and Numeracy.

This year proved to be a challenging year for 
Primary Industries throughout the region, with 
the resource boom, low unemployment, drought, 
and a shortage of available skilled staff impacting 
on the section’s planned targets.

The Wool Harvesting/Wool Classing area saw 
a number of significant developments including 
a collaborative application between PILE and 
Commercial Services winning the Australian 
Wool Innovation (AWI) tender for in shed 
shearing coaching for 75% of the state. The 
program employed industry experts from across 
the state to deliver training. Feedback from AWI 
recognised that management and implementation 
of this training has raised the benchmarks across 
Australia in delivery of their programs. The 
in-shed coaching has resulted in a sharp rise in 
traineeships in qualifications in this area. 

The College successfully applied for registration 
as a recognised provider of Wool Classing 
qualifications with the Australian Wool Exchange 
(AWEX). This enables students to apply for their 
wool classing stencils from AWEX upon completion 
of these qualifications, previously covered under 
a partnership agreement with Challenger TAFE. 
Independent registration enables the College to 
operate more flexibly and cater for clients spread 
across our region. The college was also successful 
in gaining half of the state shearing tender.

The PILE area also worked together with 
Commercial Services to provide a large number 
of tractor operation courses to the Department 
of Agriculture and Food, and delivery of fee-for-
service ChemCert courses.

The Teacher Assistant team performed strongly 
this year, with increased demand for training 
in this area. Demand for Children’s Services 
training also expanded significantly requiring 
an additional staff member to be employed. The 
Children’s Services Team were recognised for 
their efforts through winning the Governing 
Council Award for 2005, announced at the Awards 
Celebration in April.

Agricultural trainee Kurt Forsyth with his supervisor.
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Primary Industries and Learning Enterprises

Report on Operations

Several Rural Operations and Horticulture 
programs were delivered to Senior and District 
High Schools in the region — Central Midlands 
SHS, Dalwallinu DHS and Quairading DHS.

The College also delivered Certificate II in Rural 
Operations in a program for the Emu Downs 
Windfarm near Badgingarra, where students from 
Moora were given the opportunity to gain skills 
on-site at the Windfarm. Stanwell Corporation 
assisted with the delivery of this program, through 
financial support for specialist machinery and 
equipment and operators, to enable students to 
gain a wider experience in use of these types 
of equipment. Students also assisted with the 
landscaping of the tourist carpark area at the 
windfarm.

The Rural Production area commenced liaison 
with the poultry industry to provide training in 
Certificate II in Agriculture (Poultry Production). 
This industry area has not been catered for in 
the past and staff have been liaising closely with 
industry to meet their needs.

The Semi-Intensive Floating Tank System (SIFTS) 
project — a partnership involving Springfield Waters, 
McRobert Aquaculture Systems and Challenger 
TAFE — has continued to attract attention and 
funding from a number of organisations including 
the Wheatbelt Development Corporation and 
Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. 
New developments included the trialling of using 
the waste generated on growing plants, and the 
project is also investigating the addition of prawns 
to the SIFTS to graze on and control fluctuation in 
levels of water nutrients.

Woolclassing
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Trades and Industry

Report on Operations

General Construction Apprentices
Northam Campus

The Trades and Industry Portfolio Area provides 
training to students, apprentices and trainees 
in the areas of Automotive Mechanics, Heavy 
Duty Diesel Mechanics, Metal Fabrication, Local 
Government, Building Construction, Hospitality, 
Sport and Recreation, Retail, and Tourism.

In 2006 the Trades area commenced delivery of 
the Recreational Skipper’s Ticket. This course has 
proved popular, and has been delivered across the 
Wheatbelt in areas including Dalwallinu, Williams 
and Narembeen. The College has purchased a 
boat which will allow the continued delivery of 
this course.

The Boekeman Academy, established in 2005, 
graduated its first group of pre-apprentices in 
2006. The project was a success, with excellent 
employment outcomes for a vast majority of the 
group.

The area has been heavily involved in consulting 
with industry regarding the upgrading of 
equipment in the workshop. This industry 
consultation will result in a workshop area 
outfitted with relevant equipment for the demands 
of employers throughout the region.

The Trades workshop was reorganised in 2006. 
The workshop now has three defined areas: Metal 
Fabrication; Automotive and Plant Mechanic; and 
Building and Construction. Each area has its own 
classroom for theory and an area of workshop for 
practical training delivery.

The College continued to deliver the full range of 
Local Government courses state-wide, including 
to a large group of rangers and parking inspectors 
at the City of Perth. The College is presently 
looking to expanding this delivery to cover Local 
Government and Rates training.

The Automotive area purchased a class set of 
working engines that are able to be taken apart, 
in order to provide the opportunity for groups of 
students to gain hands-on training in this area. 
There are further plans to purchase more class 
sets of equipment, including hydraulic equipment, 
in 2007.

The College’s partnership with Marley’s Transport 
also delivered successful outcomes in 2006. The 
vast majority of students undertaking traineeships 
in Certificate III in Transport and Distribution 
(Road Transport) completed successfully this 
year.

The College continued to deliver metals, furniture, 
retail and first aid training in five Western 
Australian prisons with satisfactory results for 
all concerned.

The College has enjoyed a satisfactory rate of new 
trainees and apprentices in the Trades area.

In Narrogin the College has leased a new 
workshop area.

The College has acquired new equipment in 2006. 
This includes a Holden sedan for students to use 
for diagnostic testing and a forklift for training. 
Further new equipment is expected in 2007, 
including a Bobcat, excavator, and a purpose 
designed trailer for a diesel-driven welder.

A number of minor works projects have been 
undertaken by Trades students around the 
Northam Campus, including the construction 
of an all-weather shelter at the main entrance 
to the College’s Northam Campus.

The region faces an ongoing skills shortage in 
all Trades and Industry areas. The College is 
working with local industry in order to deliver 

relevant training to alleviate this shortage.
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Southern Region

Report on Operations

The Southern Region delivers to areas from Brookton, east to 
Kondinin and south to Dumbleyung, with its administrative 
centre in the town of Narrogin. Agricultural training forms a 
large part of its delivery. 

The Southern Region encompasses the Shires of 
Beverley, Brookton, Cuballing, Dumbleyung/
Kukerin, Kondinin, Kulin, Lake Grace, Narrogin, 
Pingelly, Wagin, Wandering, West Arthur and 
Williams. The College campus is located in the 
town of Narrogin. Two centres are located in 
Pingelly and Kondinin.

Southern Region lecturing staff in Wool 
Harvesting/Wool Classing were involved in a 
number of significant developments including 
a collaborative application between PILE and 
Commercial Services winning the Australian 
Wool Innovation (AWI) tender for in shed 
shearing coaching for 75% of the state. The 
program employed industry experts from across 
the state to deliver training. Feedback from AWI 
recognised that management and implementation 
of this training has raised the benchmarks across 
Australia in delivery of their programs. The 
in-shed coaching has resulted in a sharp rise in 
traineeships in qualifications in this area. 

The College successfully applied for registration 
as a recognised provider of Wool Classing 
qualifications with the Australian Wool Exchange 
(AWEX). This enables students to apply for 
their wool classing stencils from AWEX upon 
completion of these qualifications, previously 
covered under a partnership agreement with 
Challenger TAFE. Independent registration 
enables the College to operate more flexibly and 
cater for clients spread across our region. The 
college was also successful in gaining half of the 
state shearing tender.

In 2007 a Wool shed will be built in Narrogin 
to accommodate the increased demand for 
Woolclassing and Shearer training. 

The Narrogin Campus hosted several successful 
“TAFE Taster” Courses, where students from 
local District High Schools including Beverley, 
Corrigin, Lake Grace, Wagin and Kulin attended 
the Campus and were able to experience a number 
of the courses on offer at Narrogin. Students were 
able to experience Art, Multimedia and Trades.

The region saw an increased delivery of profile to 
local schools. This includes a two-year Multimedia 
project commenced in delivering Certificate II in 
Multimedia to students at Narrogin Senior High 
School.

The formation of a rural health campus at 
Narrogin. This will deliver some medical doctor 
training, operating in collaboration with UWA 
and Notre Dame University. Part of this will 
involve the establishment of a School of Enrolled 
Nursing within the college with the aim to 
delivering full certificate nursing courses and short 
topical courses, commenced limited Delivery at 
Narrogin. 

A very successful Art exhibition was held in July 
at the Nexus Exhibition Space in Narrogin, as part 
of the town’s NAIDOC Week celebrations. Work 
by CYOC students was displayed along with 
noted artists from the region. College staff were 
involved in co-ordinating the Narrogin NAIDOC 
Week celebration.

Artwork by Narrogin students was displayed at 
the whole-of-College end of year exhibition held 
in Darlington.

The College’s Trades workshop in Narrogin 
moved to a more central location in 2006.
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some initial hesitation and uncertainty on what the 
course had to offer, they were highly impressed 
with the content and professional manner of its 
delivery.

The Moora campus continued to deliver Certificate 
II in Information Technology to Secondary 
Students during 2006, and we are expecting 
student numbers to increase for 2007. The 
lecturing staff in IT and Business were kept busy 
in also delivering a number of evening classes 
throughout 2006.

The development of close working relationships 
with the general community and other government 
and private agencies continued through 2006. 
Most notable were the discussions held with the 
Wheatbelt Area Consultative Committee and 
Max Employment. Both expressed an interest in 
working with C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE in 
2007 in delivering a range of courses including 
CGEA, Community Service Youth Work and 
Certificate IV in Training and Assessment.

The Northern Region in 2006, due to the tremendous 
promotional work from all staff was able to reach 
just over 100% of its Profile.

Report on Operations
Northern Region

The Northern Region is centred around the town of Moora 
and covers an area west to the coast at Jurien and east to 
Dalwallinu. 

Nursery facilities at Moora Campus

The northern region of C.Y. O’Connor College 
of TAFE encompasses the Shires of Moora, 
Dalwallinu, Dandaragan, Gingin Chittering, 
Victoria Planes and Wongan Hills. The Moora 
Campus is responsible for the administration, 
promotion and delivery of training in these 
Shires.

In 2006, students successfully completed a Rural 
Operations program specifically designed in 
partnership with the Emu Downs Wind Farm 
project. This project involved students landscaping 
the Car Park area of the Emu Downs Wind Farm, 
gaining skills in various earth moving equipment, 
tourism, fencing and constructing aggregate 
pathways.

There was significant increase in student 
enrolments occurred in the Chittering and Gingin 
Shires, particularly in Business and Information 
Technology.

A close working partnership between the Moora 
Campus and Central Midlands Senior High School 
continues, with the implementation of a Certificate 
I in Horticulture course for students at risk. The 
program was very successful and effectively 
provided students with the means to learn within 
a hands-on working environment.

Due to some promotional work, the Jurien TAFE 
centre was successful in extending its course 
offering by enrolling students in a drawing 
unit from the Certificate III in Visual Art and 
Contemporary Craft course. This course is in 
addition to the Business, Information Technology, 
Aged Care, First Aid and Recreational Skippers’ 
Ticket courses that were delivered during 2006 at 
Jurien Bay.

The Aged Care Course delivered at the Moora 
campus proved to be very successful with positive 
feedback from students. Many stated that after 
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Eastern Region

Report on Operations

The Eastern Region encompasses thirteen local government 
areas centred around the major regional centre of Merredin. 
Courses are delivered through established centres at Merredin, 
Kellerberrin and Quairading and via an extensive Telecentre 
network. Flexible delivery strategies include work based training 
and assessment, videoconferencing and the use of computer based 
online technology.

Administration
2006 saw the closure of the College’s Kellerberrin 
office after 20 years of operation and consolidation 
of the Eastern Region administration in Merredin. 
Teaching facilities were retained in Kellerberrin 
pending negotiated amalgamation and sharing 
of facilities with the Kellerberrin District High 
School. 

A partnership arrangement with the Quairading 
Telecentre which resulted in a College lecturer 
being based at the Telecentre on a part-time 
basis has led to an increased local knowledge of 
TAFEWA programs and opportunities. This has 
resulted in a substantial increase in participation 
in the area.

Program Delivery
Despite adverse seasonal conditions across much 
of the Eastern Region catchment, agricultural 
training increased significantly largely due to an 
increase in traineeships and pig industry training. 
Other major areas of delivery included Office and 
Clerical studies, Business, Computing, General 
Education, Tourism, Community Services, Aged 
Care, Teachers Assistant and Visual Arts. A large 
number of apprentices and trainees in the trades, 
retail and local government were also serviced.

This year saw another successful VET in schools 
program conducted with the Merredin Senior 
High School. This is being expanded to encompass 
some District High Schools in the region. A 
successful program for Aboriginal School Based 
Trainees was also offered in Merredin with plans 
in place to expand TAFE opportunities for school 
students in 2007.

A program piloting the flexible delivery of the 
Certificate IV in Training and Assessment was also 
offered and attracted participants from a range of 
industry backgrounds. An increased number of 
fee for service programs were also conducted in 
2006, mainly in the areas of plant operation and 
workplace safety.

Due to changes introduced by the Federal 
Government to the eligibility criteria for the 
Aboriginal Community Development and 
Employment Program (CDEP) the region lost 
nearly all of its Indigenous students in the 
second half of 2006. It is hoped to engage these 
organisations in training for their members in 
2007. 

Training programs were also put in place for the 
Department of Corrective Services Work Camp 
at Kellerberrin.

Community Consultation
During 2006 the regional administration embarked 
on an enhanced program of consultation with 
individual businesses, community groups and 
industry organisations. Areas of focus included 
the agricultural and mining industries, small 
business and local government. The College also 
participated in a number of business, industry 
and government forums pertaining to the future 
of the region.

Above: Ric Newman, 
Regional Manager 

Right: Merredin 
Campus verandah
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Report on Operations
Commercial Services

The Commercial Services unit’s purpose is to 
work in close collaboration with Program Areas 
and Regions to assist in the development of 
commercial activity across the college.

Essentially the unit is involved in;
• The delivery of short courses that are run as fee 

for service;
• The delivery of services negotiated with 

corporate customers that have been costed on 
a commercial basis;

• Sourcing and locating tender opportunities 
from the print media and electronically through 
government and other websites;

• The assessment of tenders in cooperation with 
Portfolio Directors;

• The coordination of tender submissions;
• The delivery of services prescribed in successful 

tender bids which provide the College with a 
commercial return.

The Commercial Services Department in 2006 was 
successful in obtaining the following projects:

• AWI (Australian Wool Innovation) Shearer and 
Wool handling Training Western Australia—
Regional Coaching Esperance, Northam/
Merredin, Geraldton/Moora. The College was 
successful in obtaining 85% of this funding in 
a 12 month project worth $52,489;

• Successful in obtaining first round funding in 
the Enrolled Nursing Medication Management 
Training for Aged Care. This program ran for 
six months with the contract worth $17,933;

• CBH—Grain Handling Course. 5 x 1 week 
block course for the first time held at the C.Y. 
O’Connor College Northam Campus for 4 of 
the 1 week blocks. The course accommodated 
10 students from CBH. This project was worth 
$27,000.

The Commercial Services Department established 
a new face working under the name of Wheatbelt 
Connect and in 2007 will relocate to a more central 
office located in the main shopping precinct of 
Northam.

Provides the relevant Information Technology 
(computing, voice, data and video communications) 
so that C.Y.O’Connor College can share information 
economically, enhance communications between 
College staff and colleagues, streamline processes 
to reduce paper flow, lighten staff workloads and 
enrich and improve the teaching and learning 
process, making academic resources available 
from any place at any time. 

•  70 new computers were replaced across the 
College to stay in line with the Colleges 25% 
annual PC replacement strategy;

•  24 new laptops were purchased to service the 
Narrogin and Merredin regions;

•  A new File Server was installed for storing staff 
documents and emails;

•  Remote Access was implemented so staff can 
access documents and emails from any place 
at anytime (off campus);

•  Video Conference facilities were added to the 
Quairading campus;

•  Broadband internet access was installed at the 
Kellerberrin and Jurien campuses;

•  CMIS services were relocated from the Northam 
campus to DET in Perth;

•  A new Records Management Server was 
installed ready for new software in 2007.

Information Technology
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Indigenous Services Unit

Report on Operations

The Indigenous Services Unit of CYOC consults 
with the Indigenous communities, organisations 
and individuals to identify education and training 
needs and to develop appropriate strategies to 
address these needs.

The Indigenous Services Unit has embarked on 
a few different projects in 2006 to increase the 
participation of Indigenous students with the 
college:

• Aim High;
• Certificate IV Business (Governance); 
• Department of Community Development 

Indigenous Community Partnerships Fund;
• Certificate I Work Readiness (ASBT).

Aim High Project
This is through the Innovation Project Funding. 
The target group for this project is Aboriginal 
people who are already in the workforce for a 
number of years who have gained considerable 
knowledge and skills at work. Often Aboriginal 
people do not have time to be formally trained 
or enrolled in higher qualifications once they are 
employed. This has restricted Aboriginal people 
opportunities to articulate higher positions or 
better career pathways. 

Having identified these challenges, the College 
proposes the Skills Recognition process will be 
used in a supportive environment. This will 
enable the participants to be assessed using 
different methods of providing evidence such 
as portfolio, observation and/or interview. This 
includes establishing a support group, namely: 
a relative, an employer or colleague, access and 
equity lecturer, assessor and a community elder. 
The support group will assist the participant to fill 
in forms, gather evidence and be there during the 
interview if need be. We have had good response 
for Indigenous participants in and around the 
regions currently we have 17 students who have 
shown interest and another 11 will commence in 
2007.

Certificate IV Business (Governance)
An Integrated Approach to Indigenous Local 
Governance Trainining

This is again funded through the Innovation 
Strategy Project. The aim of the project is to 
enhance participation by Indigenous people in 
decision-making processess within governance 
structures. Structures such as governing boards 
and committees at community, local regional and 
state level, as well as fostering the development 
of leadeship skills in Indigenous participants. 
It proposes to do this by offering graduated 
governance training program that is highly 
responsive to the needs of the learner and the local 
community they represent.

Art student Micheal Barrett
attends Quairading Centre
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Report on Operations

Aboriginal School Based Traineeship
Over the past four years C.Y. O’Connor College 
of TAFE has been involved with the Year Ten 
Aboriginal School Based Traineeship Program, 
delivering the Certificate I Work Readiness 
qualification to this cohort. The certificate allows 
the students to gain the required skills to access a 
formal School Based Traineeship in years 11 & 12 
and at the same time assist with the retention and 
participation of students into years 11 & 12.

The skill areas that will be targeted by this project 
are:

• Communication Skills (written and verbal);
• Organisation skills;
• Interpersonal skills;
• Financial skills.

2006 has seen the commencement of some great 
programs and we envisage that in 2007 we will 
embark on some new ventures, from cultural 
awareness training workshops to open days in all 
campuses to raise the profile of this section within 
the College.Quairading art student Veronica Winmar 

with some of her work

Indigenous Engagement Project
The project is about how the College will deliver 
units from the Certificate IV Local Governance 
course using e-learning principles which can be 
promoted as best practice for use across Australia 
to Indigenous students in regional and remote 
locations. This is an Australian Flexible Learning 
tender in collaboration with TAFE NSW, Western 
Institute and TAFE NSW, North Coast Institute.

Department of Community Development under 
the Indigenous Community Partnerships Fund.

• Women Learning “Yorga Kadadjiny” This 
project is intended to provide intensive 
introductory training for Indigenous women 
that recognises and further develops their 
strengths, experience, knowledge and skills 
in relation to personal empowerment and 
leadership capacity building of their families 
and communities. Gail Kickett working in the art class at Narrogin
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Report on Operations
Quality Management

The College maintains certification to the 
Australian Quality Training Framework (AQTF) 
and the ISO 9001:2000 Standard. These standards 
ensure, encourage and support continuous 
improvement activities throughout the College. 
Quality related activities for 2006 are detailed 
below.

Australian Quality Training 
Framework (AQTF)
There were no AQTF External Audits carried 
out by the Office of the Training Accreditation 
Council in 2006, however work continued on 
the implementation of strategies and initiatives 
relating to the August 2005 AQTF External Audit. 
The most significant initiative is the establishment 
of a central repository on the College shared drive 
for all training and assessment materials used in 
the delivery of College training programs.

This has included the consolidation of all training 
delivery related material from various electronic 
sources throughout the College into a structured 
folder system based around the course and 
training packages that the College is registered to 
deliver. Work is ongoing to ensure the most up to 
date, version controlled, information is available 
to all staff involved in training delivery.

ISO 9001:2000 Standard
A BVQI Surveillance Audit was conducted in 
the College over the 3rd and 4th of April. The 
visit involved an audit of the Moora Campus 
including the administration and lecturing 
activities on day 1, with day 2 allocated to the 
Northam Campus. The Northam audit covered 
HR, Purchasing, Assets and Facilities, Records 
and training delivery in the Primary Industries 
and Learning Enterprises Portfolio. The outcome 
of the audit was positive with the comment that 
the quality system continues to work well with 
good understanding of requirements by all staff 
interviewed. There were no non-compliances 
identified.

The College’s ongoing commitment to quality was 
further demonstrated by the successful completion 
of a Re-Certification, Triennial Audit, by BVQI from 
October 16th to 19th. Areas reviewed included the 
Eastern Region and Southern Region including 
the administration and lecturing activities at these 
campuses. The Northam Campus audits included 
a review of Training Delivery in the Trades and 
Business and Social Science Portfolio Areas. College 
Planning activities, Performance Reporting and 
Quality System Management were also reviewed. 
No Non-Compliances were identified during these 
audits with the auditor noting that the College is 
actively addressing its Strategic objectives of being 
‘responsive’, ‘innovative’, ‘flexible’ and ‘customer 
focused’.

Internal Audits
The 2006 internal audit schedule was completed 
in November with all training delivery portfolio 
areas included in the audit sampling process. 
All administration areas were reviewed at the 
Northam Campus and also at each of the Regions. 
Most issues identified through this process have 
been addressed with outstanding issues being 
monitored for completion.
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Report on Operations
Records Management

The Education and Training Sector agencies have 
adopted a common Record Keeping Plan (RKP). 
This Plan sets out strategies for compliance with 
the RKP Principles including measuring the 
effectiveness and efficiency of the Record Keeping 
system, implementation and review of training 
programs and induction processes. During 2006, 
the Records Information Management Group 
(RIMG), comprising representatives from across 
the Education and Training sectors, oversaw the 
publication of 2 key documents. The TAFEWA 
Retention & Disposal Schedule and the TAFEWA 
Records Management Thesaurus were developed 
centrally for implementation in TAFEWA Colleges 
to comply with strategies that had been identified 
in the Education and Training—Sector Record 
Keeping Plan.

TAFEWA Retention & Disposal 
Schedule
The TAFEWA Retention & Disposal Schedule, 
RD 2005023 was approved by the State Records 
Commission on the 16th October 2006. This 
document was developed to enable timely and 
legal disposal (by destruction or archiving) of 
the functional records of the College. This R&D 
schedule is the TAFEWA Colleges common 
retention and disposal schedule developed in 
accordance with the Record Keeping Plan. It 
describes those College records that will be State 
archives and the retention period for those College 
records that are not State archives. This schedule is 
read in the General Disposal Authorities produced 
by the State Records Office. The College has 
commenced planning the implementation of this 
schedule which will commence with the upgrade 
of TRIM Records Software in early 2007.

TRIM
During 2006 funding was provided by the College 
to upgrade the TRIM software currently in use 
from Captura to TRIM Context. Relevant hardware 
has also been upgraded with implementation 

and user training to continue in early 2007. This 
upgrade will provide the College with an up to 
date platform for future development to meet ever 
increasing Records Management requirements.

TAFEWA Records Management 
Thesaurus
The TAFEWA Records Management Thesaurus is 
based on the Keyword AAA approach and was 
modified to reflect the business functions and 
activities currently in use by the TAFEWA sector. 
The Keyword AAA approach is based on the 
business activity classification scheme advocated 
in the Australian Standard AS ISO 15489 – 2002 
and is a thesaurus of general terms designed for 
use in classifying, titling and indexing most types 
of records. It includes functional terms relating 
to TAFEWA core business functions, to provide 
comprehensive controlled vocabulary coverage. 
The College has adopted this Thesaurus and 
will continue to implement it in 2007 along with 
the upgrade of TRIM Records Software in early 
2007.

Training
The College has commenced Records Management 
online training using an Online Induction and 
Training Package which has content relating 
to Records Management responsibilities at 
employee and manager levels. The content of the 
package applies to all the Education and Training 
Sector agencies with the implementation being 
progressed in 2006. The Online Records Awareness 
Training was designed to highlight College staff 
obligations, rights and responsibilities under the 
State Records Act 2000. During 2006, 12 key records 
management staff were trained with feedback 
being very positive. The College has requested 
the option to manage the implementation on 
the training at a local level and will continue to 
progress the training during 2007.
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Social Outcomes
People and Communities

“To enhance the quality of life and well 
being of all people throughout 

Western Australia.”

C.Y. O’Connor College provides a range of 
vocational education and training products and 
services to support the growth of a diversified 
regional economy and address local and state wide 
skill shortages. The College’s strategic objectives 
include developing and implementing learning 
strategies and programs which are recognised as 
being responsive to industry-driven client lifelong 
learning needs. Aligned to this goal to meet the 
diverse needs of clients in our community there is 
a particular focus on increasing the participation 
of: people from diverse backgrounds; industry 
clients; 15–19 year olds; Indigenous groups; and 
people with a disability.

The College works collaboratively with local 
industry and community groups, in addition to 
the Industry Advisory Groups which have been 
established to gain relevant and current advice on 
industry trends and training needs. The College’s 
strategic objectives include the promotion of 
quality training by conducting extensive business 
surveys and regular community consultation 
forums in regional centres. These methods are 
used to identify industry 
and community skil ls 
deficits and effectively 
align training delivery 
to  suppor t  emerg ing 
industries and deploy 
resources appropriately 
throughout the regions.

The College promotes and encourages a variety 
of training delivery partnerships to facilitate 
articulation arrangements and increase retention 
and employment rates. We have worked 
effectively with a range of industry groups 
and Industry Training Councils to maintain 
significant levels of workplace delivery and 
assessment and subsequently the number of 
apprenticeship and traineeships.

The College has endeavoured to improve 
Indigenous participation and completion rates 
through collaborative planning with schools, 
Aboriginal Corporations and through regular 
consultation with the Aboriginal Advisory 
Education Training Committees which comprise 
staff, students and community representatives. 
The College’s career and employment advisory 
services have identified diverse employment 
opportunities for Indigenous peoples and has 
implemented a number of strategies to align 
students with the relevant skills and aspirations 
to meet these opportunities.

C.Y. O’Connor 
College of TAFE staff 

and their familities 
participating in the 
2006 Avon Descent 

Parade.
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Social Outcomes
People and Communities

VET for school students delivery has increased 
markedly throughout C.Y. O’Connor College 
through established partnerships with four 
Senior and five District High Schools in the 
Wheatbelt, and the WA Colleges of Agriculture. 
Similarly, the College has worked closely with 
the University sector to develop and support 
articulation pathways to ensure Lifelong Learning 
opportunities are available to all. The College is 
working with UWA and Notre Dame University 
in the establishment of a Rural Health Campus in 
the Wheatbelt.

In 2006, under CY Career Focus-TAFE Plus, the 
College implemented comprehensive career 
development services to provide guidance for 
students transition from school to TAFE, higher 
education and work. There has been a continued 
focus on the retention of the 15 to 17 year old 
cohort, with the raising of the school leaving age, 
through the development and implementation of 
District Education and Training Plans.

The College has continued to increase its 
research and development capacity and create 
an environment that encourages innovation and 
capitalises on the region’s comparative advantage. 
The College has maintained its research and 
development partnership with Springfield Waters 
Aquaculture, Challenger TAFE and McRobert’s 
Aquaculture. The Inland Saline Aquaculture 
Demonstration Farm based in Northam is 

hosting a three-year research project funded by 
the State and Federal governments considering 
the feasibility of growing commercial quantities 
of marine finfish in the Wheatbelt’s salt-affected 
areas. Trials to date indicate that utilizing the 
new award-winning technology known as the 
Semi-Intensive Floating Tank System, developed 
by McRobert Aquaculture Systems, production 
of species such as barramundi and trout has been 
estimated at 25t/ha per year, a five fold increase. 
The results of this research will be used to develop 
the local industry on a commercial basis with the 
necessary training being conducted in workshop 
format for Wheatbelt farmers.

A culture of holistic financial accountability has 
developed throughout the College with the aim of 
strategically managing Colleges finances to ensure 
responsive growth and sustainable financial 
outcomes, as well as adherence to the Business 
Plan. The College has also made significant 
progress in streamlining and implementing more 
effective business practices and protocols to ensure 
compliance with Government Regulations and 
Legislation.

Aged Care 
Graduation 

York Town Hall 
December 2006
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Social Outcomes
People and Communities

VET in schools
In 2006 C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE undertook 
auspicing arrangements with 6 High Schools (2 
District High Schools, 3 Senior High schools and 
the School of Isolated and Distance Education).

A total of 45,234 SCH was auspiced in 2006 as well 
as 32,820 SCH being delivered through Profile.

The demand on Profile delivery has again been 
well over the allocated 26,914 SCH. The raising 
of the School Leaving Age to 16, has put a greater 
demand on the Profile requirements, this demand 
will be compounded with the implementation of 
the 17 year old school leaving age comes into effect 
in 2008.

Youth Outcomes
During 2006 the College ran the very successful 
GATE (Gaining Access to Training and 
Employment) program at the Northam and 
Kellerberrin campuses for disengaged at risk 15–17 
year olds. This was part of the Midlands District 
Education, Training and Participation Plan and 
College staff worked closely with the District 
Office Participation Coordinator. The program 
included small tool usage, automotives, go-kart 
assembly, cooking, self-defense, art, sexual health 
and career development workshops. 20 students 
took part and all gained important employability 
skills with 80% going on to further education, 
training or employment. Students indicated that 
the course had taught them a lot and they felt more 
confident to continue their education. 

Ten at risk students were enrolled in a Pre-
Apprenticeship course with the College which 
included a program of numeracy support, career 
development and leadership training. During the 
year several of these students were successful in 
gaining access to other courses or employment. 

The College also piloted the new Try-a-Trade 
program which introduced high school students 
to a taste of general construction, automotives, 
fabrication and welding and diesel mechanics. 
The program was run during the school holidays 
in July and allowed the students to experience 

Customer Focus
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE is committed to 
providing customers with a quality service which 
they value as being responsive to their needs and 
expectations. The College endeavours to enhance 
student support wherever possible. 

This commitment to customer focus has resulted 
in:

• Regular customer service meetings for frontline 
staff and Customer Service Officers to ensure 
key information is disseminated in a timely 
fashion to enhance customer service; 

• C o n t i n u o u s  i m p r o v e m e n t  o f  A Q T F 
processes;

• Continued partnering arrangements with the 
department of Justice, including delivering 
training within WA prisons;

• Continued partnerships with High Schools in 
the region to deliver VET to school students;

• Increased delivery of school-based traineeships 
which serves to strengthen articulation 
pathways for further education in the 
Wheatbelt;

• A continued working relationship with 
key stakeholders within the community 
and industry. College membership on the 
Apprentice and Traineeship Working Group 
ensures a regional perspective is represented;

• Strengthened relationships with the Telecentre 
Network to enhance the community’s access to 
training.
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Social Outcomes
People and Communities

Cultural Diversity and Language Services Outcomes

Number of Indigenous Enrolments
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In 2006 CGEA classes embraced a wide cultural 
mix including: Indigenous students; students with 
disabilities; and students of Filipino, Polish and 
Chinese origin. The majority of students were 
successful in one or more modules and a number 
are continuing their studies in 2007 either in CGEA 
or another course.

In the second half of 2006 a CGEA module was 
customised at the request of Western Power 
to help a group of Filipino Electrical Linesmen 
develop better workplace communication 
skills in Australian English. Five students were 
enrolled and all achieved competence in the Oral 
Communication CGEA module at introductory 
level. The students had all learned American 
English previously. They put together a glossary 
of equivalent technical vocabulary matching the 
American words with the equivalent Australian 
terminology. They also developed their own 
mini-dictionary explaining a large number 
of Australian workplace and slang terms in 
standard English. Both the students and Western 
Power (through the students’ workplace mentor) 
expressed great satisfaction with the course and 
with the significant improvement in workplace 
communication that resulted from participation.

Throughout 2006 there were 283 Indigenous 
students enrolled across all campuses and learning 
areas. The College conducted a successful program 
for Indigenous School Based Trainees. Thirty six 
Year 10 Indigenous high school students enrolled 
in the program and graduates were awarded 
Certificate I in Work Readiness. 2006 is the fourth 
year of the program which teaches students 
valuable employability skills and enables them 
to be work ready and to assist their transition to 
Year 11 and 12 VET courses. 
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People and Communities

Disability Services Plan Outcomes
The College’s Access and Equity Department 
is funded by the Department of Education and 
Training through the Delivery and Performance 
Agreement to address the needs of and to provide 
equitable access to people with disabilities. This 
funding enables the College to provide an Access 
and Equity Officer, a Youth Support Officer, 
Disability Support Workers, Mobility Assistants, 
Tutors, specialised equipment and Interpreters 
upon request. Currently the Access & Equity staff 
are a team of twelve who work with students 
across the five campuses.

In 2006, the CYOC ACCESS program was 
developed to provide people with a disability 
with a quality service which is responsive to 
their needs. In addition, the Access & Equity 
Department provides assistance for youth at 
risk, people from CALD backgrounds, women 
in non-traditional fields of study and indigenous 
people.

Some of the achievements of the CYOC ACCESS 
program in 2006 include:

Formal partnership arrangements with schools 
and disability service agencies, which enable 
the College to develop an assessment process in 
conjunction with lecturer, carer, school or other 
external agency. This enabled us to liaise with 
external agencies where required to develop a 
holistic view to addressing student’s support 
needs, and encouraged a two-way flow of 
information between agencies. 

Implementation of an Education Access Program 
which assisted us to develop staff to increase 
their knowledge and skills and assist people with 
disabilities. This includes the development of 
Disability Support Worker induction and training 
manual, provision of resources and training 
to staff, and provision of specialised disability 
resources on a client basis upon enrolment of 
student. The Access & Equity Officer works 
with the Academic Policies Manager to plan 
professional development which encompasses 
common disability training shortfalls. Professional 
development for lecturers this year included 

sessions such as Managing Challenging Behaviours 
and specialised professional development seminars 
with Dr Richard Lavoie, an expert in learning 
disabilities.

Implementation of a Student Transition Program 
with schools and special education units—barriers 
to learning are identified prior to enrolment 
and addressed. A student transition process 
is developed to facilitate smooth entry into 
appropriate learning pathway. Strategies include 
encouraging self-identification of barriers to 
learning, strategies to address challenges prior to 
commencement of study, and liaison with lecturing 
staff prior to commencement of study to support 
student needs and requests.

Other disability support included:

• The Access Toolkit Program, which is a support 
program for kinaesthetic learners with a 
learning disability, was successfully trialed this 
semester with very positive outcomes.

• Equipment provision included digital media, 
including trackball mouse, ergonomic chairs, 
specialised video cameras, a hoist for personal 
hygiene requirements, keyboards, provision 
of disability software including Zoomtext, 
provision of large sized monitors, ‘big key’ 
keyboards, audio loops and antiglare screens.

• Staff support includes twelve employees who 
work in the Access & Equity Department, 
including a casual Youth Support Officer. Staff 
support students on campus and also trainees 
and students who are remote learners.
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Social Outcomes
People and Communities

Inaugural James Dawson Memorial Award 
winner Bill Mauchline.

CYOC ACCESS  continues to 
promote inclusive practice among 
our staff and students. Part of 
our commitment to inclusion is 
identified within the College’s 
Disability Access and Inclusion 
Plan, which was submitted earlier 
this year in draft form to the 
Disabilities Services Commission. 
The Plan is aligned with the 
College’s Strategic Plan and the 
Access & Equity Operational Plan. 
Further supports provided for 
people with disabilities in 2006 
include, but was not restricted to:

• Liaison with marketing staff 
to ensure that publications and information 
materials relating to course application and 
enrolment: address the needs of students with 
disabilities; are accessible to students with 
disabilities; and are made available as required 
in large print and electronic formats;

• Development of Disability Awareness training 
added to the staff training calendar, and offered 
regularly. Disability Awareness Training is 
aimed at increasing staff understanding of 
disability and building staff skills so that they 
can better develop and deliver flexible and 
inclusive programs; 

• Disability Support Worker training and 
induction processes reviewed and Orientation 
and Induction manual development;

• Development and distribution of ‘CYOC Access 
Virtual Help Desk’—disability information 
pack for CYOC staff;

• Training for lecturing staff in the use of adaptive 
technology as requested; 

• International Day for People with a Disability, 
celebrated during the week of 20–24 November. 

This week of recognition for people with a 
disability includes interagency celebrations, 
the James Dawson Memorial Award (an award 
for students who have a disability and who 
have displayed academic excellence, positive 
attitude or other outstanding attribute) static 
displays of student work and the launch of the 
Welcoming Diversity campaign, which has 
been developed with students with a disability 
at the Northam campus. 

• Partnership with Town of Northam, C.Y. 
O’Connor’s Commercial Services Department 
and the Equity Department, who were 
awarded a tender for “You’re Welcome”, a 
local government incentive to promote access 
and inclusion in Northam.

C.Y. O’Connor TAFE is committed to meeting 
the needs of every student, and is dedicated to 
ensuring that people with a disability have access 
to a variety of learning opportunities.
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Economic Outcomes
The Economy

To develop a strong economy that delivers more 
jobs, more opportunities and great wealth to 

Western Australians by creating the conditions 
required for investment and growth.

C.Y. O’Connor College provides a range of 
vocational education and training products and 
services to support the growth of a diversified 
regional economy and address local and state wide 
skill shortages. The College’s strategic objectives 
include developing and implementing learning 
strategies and programs which are recognised as 
being responsive to industry-driven client lifelong 
learning needs. Aligned to this goal to meet the 
diverse needs of clients in our community there is 
a particular focus on increasing the participation 
of: people from diverse backgrounds; industry 
clients; 15–19 year olds; Indigenous groups; and 
people with a disability.

The College works collaboratively with local 
industry and community groups, in addition to 
the Industry Advisory Groups which have been 
established to gain relevant and current advice on 
industry trends and training needs. The College’s 
strategic objectives include the promotion of 
quality training by conducting extensive business 
surveys and regular community consultation 
forums in regional centres. These methods are 
used to identify industry and community skills 
deficits and effectively align training delivery to 
support emerging industries and deploy resources 
appropriately throughout the regions.

The College promotes and encourages a variety 
of training delivery partnerships to facilitate 
articulation arrangements and increase retention 
and employment rates. We have worked effectively 
with a range of industry groups and Industry 
Training Councils to maintain significant levels 
of workplace delivery and assessment and 
subsequently the number of apprenticeship and 
traineeships.

The College has endeavoured to improve Indigenous 
participation and completion rates through 
collaborative planning with schools, Aboriginal 
Corporations and through regular consultation 
with the Aboriginal Advisory Education Training 
Committees which comprise staff, students and 
community representatives. The College’s career 
and employment advisory services have identified 
diverse employment opportunities for Indigenous 
peoples and has implemented a number of 
strategies to align students with the relevant skills 
and aspirations to meet these opportunities.

VET for school students delivery has increased 
markedly throughout C.Y. O’Connor College 
through established partnerships with four Senior 
and five District High Schools in the Wheatbelt, 
and the WA Colleges of Agriculture. Similarly, the 
College has worked closely with the University 
sector to develop and support articulation pathways 
to ensure Lifelong Learning opportunities are 
available to all. The College is working with UWA 
and Notre Dame University in the establishment of 
a Rural Health Campus in the Wheatbelt.

In 2006, under CY Career Focus-TAFE Plus, the 
College implemented comprehensive career 
development services to provide guidance for 
students transition from school to TAFE, higher 
education and work. There has been a continued 
focus on the retention of the 15 to 17 year old cohort, 
with the raising of the school leaving age, through 
the development and implementation of District 
Education and Training Plans.
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The College has continued to increase its 
research and development capacity and create 
an environment that encourages innovation and 
capitalises on the region’s comparative advantage. 
The College has maintained its research and 
development partnership with Springfield Waters 
Aquaculture, Challenger TAFE and McRobert’s 
Aquaculture. The Inland Saline Aquaculture 
Demonstration Farm based in Northam is hosting a 
three-year research project funded by the State and 
Federal governments considering the feasibility of 
growing commercial quantities of marine finfish in 
the Wheatbelt’s salt-affected areas. Trials to date 
indicate that the new award-winning technology 
known as the Semi-Intensive Floating Tank System, 
developed by McRobert Aquaculture Systems, 
production of species such as barramundi and 
trout has been estimated at 25t/ha per year, a five 
fold increase. The results of this research will be 
used to develop the local industry on a commercial 
basis with the necessary training being conducted 
in workshop format for Wheatbelt farmers.
A culture of holistic financial accountability has 

Staff Induction day, 2006

developed throughout the College with the aim of 
strategically managing Colleges finances to ensure 
responsive growth and sustainable financial 
outcomes, as well as adherence to the Business 
Plan. The College has also made significant 
progress in streamlining and implementing more 
effective business practices and protocols to 
ensure compliance with Government Regulations 
and Legislation.
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The Environment

Sustainability
The College Sustainability Action Plan 2005 
– 2007 was reviewed in March 2006 with a 
revised iteration being published. The Action 
Plan included a number of priorities for 2006, the 
achievement of which is detailed below:

• The College developed a Sustainability Charter 
with links to the Colleges Values as outlined in 
the 2006 Strategic Plan.

• Ongoing application of the Buying wisely 
policies including the Buy Local Policy, Priority 
Access Policy, Building Local Industry Policy

• Waste Management—Recycle bins have been 
located in main buildings for recycling shredded 
paper. Campus gardening maintenance 
practices now include the mulching and reuse 
of tree prunings and other garden waste.

• Energy Consumption—An Energy Audit 
was carried out in 2006 which resulted in the 
successful application for a grant from SEDO. 
The grant was used to implement energy 
saving alterations to lighting and power usage 
to address the Audit recommendations. All 
gas heating units have had timers installed to 
ensure energy waste is minimised.

• Water Conservation—A Commonwealth 
Government  water  conservat ion and 
management grant was received for the 
establishment of a Rain Water Tank and 
moisture sensors at Moora Campus. All campus 
reticulation systems are set on timers and 
gardens are mulched when required.

• Motor Vehicles—The College vehicle fleet has 
been down-sized to 4 cylinder petrol vehicles 
and the efficient management of vehicles use 
is coordinated thorough a central car booking 
process where group car bookings are made 
when possible.

• The embedding of sustainability into training 
processes was presented at a board of studies 
meeting attended by ASLs and Principal 
Lecturers and strategies to encourage all college 
staff to embrace sustainability were determined. 
Training Packages clearly identify outcomes 
relating to environmental sustainability and 
ongoing validation, moderation and continuous 
improvement processes identify if these are 
being met. A professional in the sustainability 
field from local government is to put together 
a series of workshops to be held at each of the 
College’s campuses. These workshops are too 
be progressed in 2007.

• The College’s Sustainability Action Plan 
was presented at the 2006 induction day in 
January 2006 which was attended by College 
staff. The presentation included the College’s 
obligations to the State Sustainability Strategy, 
“Hope for the Future: The Western Australian 
State Sustainability Strategy”. Examples of 
how sustainability could be embedded into 
training packages with a variety of units used 
to demonstrate this. Resources available to 
support sustainability were identified and have 
been placed on the College’s intranet to allow 
easy accessibility to all staff. 

Managing 
Director Peter 
Mahler with a 
Woolemi Pine, 

one of the worlds 
rarest and 

oldest plants, 
which has now 
been planted 
on campus at 

Northam
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Energy Smart Government Policy

Environmental Outcomes
The Environment

Stationary Energy 
Consumption (GJ)

Energy Cost ($)
Stationary Energy 
Costs ($)

Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions 
(tonnes of CO2)

 Baseline 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 Saving Saving Saving
     2003/04 2004/05 2005/06

 1835 1798 1702 1727 2% 7.2% 5.6%

 75,333 70,660 67,297 62,282 4,667 8,036 13,051

 416 402 371 347 14 45 347

Throughout the year the College continued 
to implement and foster a culture of energy 
thriftiness.

For the 2005/2006 year, the College achieved its 
second best year on record for the reduction in 
the consumption of energy, but unfortunately fell 
short of the specified target of a 10% reduction 
below the 2001/2002 baseline. A number of factors 
impacted upon the College’s ability to meet this 
year’s target. This included:

• An increase in student numbers from the 
baseline year.

• A shift in delivery patterns to more energy 
intensive courses in the Trades area.

• The filling of a significantly large LPG tank at 
the end of the reporting period.

• Greater usage of heating and cooling systems 
throughout the year.

To ensure that the College is well placed to meet 
future target requirements an Energy Audit was 
conducted by Norman, Disney and Young during 
the current reporting period. With the assistance of 
SEDO grant funding for the introduction of energy 
saving technologies, the following actions have 
been undertaken and the benefits will be realized 
in future reporting periods. This includes:

• Lighting savings resulting from the introduction 
of high efficiency luminaries; power savers 
added to the lighting systems; light sensors; 
and lighting timers.

• The installation of timers on heating and hot 
water systems.

• Better usage of temperature controlled 
environments.

• Gas savings through the introduction of 
solar hot water heaters and timed gas space 
heaters.

• And the continuation and expansion of the 
College’s good housing keeping practices in 
relation to energy conservation.

This should ensure that CY O’Connor College of 
TAFE is well placed to meet next year’s target.
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Regional Outcomes
The Wheatbelt Region

C.Y. O’Connor College is an innovative and 
progressive organisation, committed to meeting 
the education and training needs of the rural and 
remote communities in the Wheatbelt. The College 
is comprised of four regional Campuses, located 
in Northam, Merredin, Moora and Narrogin. 
Additional TAFE centres operate in Kellerberrin, 
Pingelly, Kondinin, Quairading, Jurien 
Bay, and Bindoon. With an area of 154,000 
square kilometres encompassing 44 shires, 
and a population of 72,000, the Wheatbelt 
region is one of Western Australia’s most 
sparsely distributed regions. The College 
operates in an environment of very thin 
markets with traditionally the lowest 
training participation rate in publicly 
funded VET of all regions in Western 
Australia.

Our determination to take a leadership role in the 
economic, social and sustainable environmental 
development of the Wheatbelt is reflected in the 
College Mission Statement, which aims to promote 
a stronger regional economy by developing 
partnerships with local business and community 
groups to identify training needs and skills 
shortages and enhance the region’s skills base. 

Underpinning this achievement is a set of core 
values, which reflect the College’s commitment 
to consistently high standards of customer 
service. Also, endeavouring at all times to ensure 
equitable access to services and facilities for clients 
and staff regardless of age, gender, ethnicity, 
disability or location. The College promotes a 
culture which encourages initiative, innovation 
and active participation in the development and 
implementation of more streamlined processes and 
improved training services.

Lifelong learning opportunities have been 
established in the region through identification of 
multiple learning pathways and improved choices 
in education, training and work. Increased use of 
Information Communications and Technology has 
provided better services and greater accessibility 
for the broader community. The Youth Advantage 
Strategy has seen the implementation of several 
programs supporting “youth at risk”, in particular, 
disengaged 15–19 year old youth. 

Improved Indigenous participation, completion 
rates and employment outcomes, especially at 
Certificate III and above, have been a priority for 
the College and a number of strategies have been 
implemented. The College employs Aboriginal 
Program Assistants, Development Officers and 
lecturers to mentor and support Indigenous 

students and provide positive role modelling. 
Successful Aboriginal School-Based Trainee 
programs were conducted throughout the region 
with positive outcomes, students either being 
retained at school, attending TAFE or gaining 
employment with ongoing training opportunities. 
These initiatives have achieved increased student 
self-esteem and confidence and created positive 
engagement, alongside basic skills development 
for entry into the workplace.

The College has also made a concerted effort in 
2006, in light of the current skills shortage, to 
support trainees and apprentices. This enhanced 
relationship has seen markedly improved student 
satisfaction rates for clients in Enterprise Based 
Training for learning the skills required to perform 
the job and this has led to 91% of Employment-
based students indicating that their training had 
improved their employment prospects. 

The result of these strategies is a College attuned 
and responsive to its rural and remote communities, 
conscious of the responsibility it has in being the 
only public provider servicing the entire region, 
respected for its local knowledge and expertise 
and recognised for its broad accessibility through 
flexible delivery options.
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Good Governance

Report on Governing Council

Accountable Officer’s Report

The College is a statutory authority which is largely 
financed from public funds and is accountable to 
the State Parliament through the Minister for 
Education and Training. 

The College is a public sector agency in its own 
right, which means it must comply with legislation 
covering a range of matters including financial 
administration, staffing, occupational health, 
safety and welfare, equal opportunity, freedom 
of information and codes of conduct. 

The Council, as the Governing body of the College, 
acts on behalf of the community in organising and 
managing the resources allocated to the College for 
the provision of vocational and further education. 
The Council is a ‘body corporate’ with the power to 
do all that is necessary to fulfil its functions under 
the Vocational Education and Training Act (1996). It 
is a self-governing statutory authority. 

The Accountable Officer for C.Y. O’Connor College 
of TAFE is Mr Peter Mahler, the Managing Director, 
of C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE.

The functions of the council include the 
following:

1. To prepare a College Training Profile for the 
approval of the Minister, as and when required 
by the Minister.

2. To approve the Strategic and Operational 
Management Plans for the College.

3. To oversee the implementation of the College 
Strategic and Operational Management 
Plans.

4. To monitor the College’s performance and 
initiate improvements where necessary.

5. To ensure the College’s programs and services 
are responsive to and meet the needs of 
industry, students and the community.

6. To ensure that conditions of contracts and 
agreements entered into on behalf of the 
College are met. Including the Delivery 
and Performance Agreement, contracts of 
employment, audited statements of accounts 
and commercial contracts and arrangements.

2006 Governing Council Chair Ian Landsmeer with Peter 
Mahler, Managing Director and winner of 2007 Student 

Diary Cover competition winner, Tamara Johnson.
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Leglislation impacting on the 
College:
State Legislation

•  Australian Crime Commission (Western 
Australia) Act 2004

• Corporations (WA) Act (1990)
• Criminal Code
• Disability Services Act (1993)
• Education Service Providers (Full fee overseas 

students) Registration Act (1991)
• Electoral Act (1907)
• Electronic Transactions Act (2003)
• Equal Opportunity Act (1984)
• Evidence Act (1906)
• Fair Trading Act (1987)
• Financial Management Act 2006
• Freedom of Information Act (1992)
• Government Financial Responsibility Act (2000)
• Industrial Relations Act (1979)
• Industrial Training Act (1975)
• Interpretation Act (1984)
• Labour Relations Reform Act (2002)
• Library Board of WA Act (1951)
• Limitation Act (2005)
• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act (1993)
• Occupational Health, Safety and Welfare Act 

(1984)
• Occupiers Liability Act (1985)
• Parliamentary Commissioner Act (1971)
• Public and Bank Holidays Act (1972)
• Public Interest Disclosure Act (2003)
• Public Sector Management Act (1994)
• Salaries and Allowances Act (1975)
• School Education Act (1999)
• State Records Act (2000)
• State Superannuation Act (2000)
• State Supply Commission Act (1991)
• Vocational Education and Training Act (1996)
• Workers Compensation (Common Law 

Proceedings) Act 2004
• Workers Compensation and Injury Management 

(Acts of Terrorism) Act 2001
• Workers Compensation and Injury Management 

Act 1981

Federal Legislation
• A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax Act) 

1999
• Aboriginal And Torres Strait Islander Act 2005
• Aboriginal And Torres Strait Islander Commission 

Amendment Act 2005
• Age Discrimination Act (2004)
• Archives Act (1983)
• Copyright Act (1968)
• Copyright Amendment (Digital Agenda) Act 2000
• Cybercrime Act (2001)
• Disability Discrimination Act (1992)
• Freedom of Information Act (1982)
• Fringe Benefits Tax Act (1986)
• Human Rights and Equal Opportunity 

Commission Act (1986)
• Income Tax Act (1986)
• Indigenous Education (Targeted Assistance) Act 

(2000)
• Industrial Relations Act
• Privacy Act (1988) 
• Racial Discrimination Act (1975)
• Sex Discrimination Act (1984)
• Skilling Australia’s Workforce Act 2005
• State Grants (Technical & Training Fees 

Reimbursement Act (1974)
• Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 

(1992)
• Superannuation Guarantee Charge Act (1992)
• Trade Practices Act (1974)
• Workplace Relations Act (1996)

Enabling Legislation
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE was established as an autonomous institution, in accordance with section 35 of 

the Vocational Education and Training Act (1996), effective from 1 January 2001.
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Equal Opportunity Employment 
Outcomes
The College is committed to being an equal 
employment opportunity employer and has 
continued to develop policies and educate staff 
to reflect this. 

This year the College continued to monitor the C.Y. 
O’Connor College of TAFE Equity and Diversity 
Plan 2003–2005. This demonstrates the College’s 
commitment to its responsibilities under Section 
IX of the Equal Opportunity Act (1984). The plan 
provides the College’s Equity and Diversity 
objectives and strategies for their achievement.

Throughout the year training was undertaken 
for staff on chairing and participating on 
selection panels, Grievance Officer training, 
occupational health and safety training and 

Evaluation of Programs
The Vocational Education and Training Act 
(1996) requires the College to provide Vocational 
Education and Training consistent with the College 
Training Profile. The College is therefore required 
to meet the profile and other requirements 
as specified in the Delivery and Performance 
Agreement entered into with the Western 
Australian Department of Education and 
Training.

C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE has 
continued to survey its clients through a 
number of mechanisms such as the Student 
Unit Evaluation Program. This survey is 
aimed at obtaining direct feedback from 
customers.

Freedom of Information
Members of the public seeking access to documents 
under the Freedom of Information (FOI) Act (1992) 
are invited to contact:

The Freedom of Information Co-ordinator
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE
PO Box 498 Northam WA 6401
Phone: (08) 9622 3905 Fax: (08) 9622 6763

C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE received no 
applications under the FOI act in 2006.

Trade Practices Act
There were no reported breaches of the Trade 
Practices Act during 2006.

Interests in Contracts
No members of the Governing Council or Senior 
Officers of the College have any interest in any 
contract or proposed contract with the College.

Audio room in Library at Northam Campus
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Report on Compliance
For the Period

1 January 2006 to 31 December 2006
As Required by Section 31(1) of the Public Sector Management Act (1994)

To the best of my knowledge, C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE has complied with the Public Sector 
Standards in Human Resource Management for:

• Recruitment, Selection and Appointment
• Transfer
• Secondment
• Performance Management
• Redeployment
• Termination
• Discipline
• Temporary Deployment (Acting)
• Grievance Resolution

as well as with the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and the College Code of 
Conduct.

Procedures are in place to ensure compliance and appropriate internal assessments have been 
conducted to meet legislative requirements.

For the year 2006, there were no breaches against any of the Standards.

Peter Mahler
Managing Director
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE

27 February 2007

Public Sector Standards
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Risk Management
The College has successfully embedded risk 
management principles into management decision 
making and has established a risk management 
framework to ensure compliance with Treasury 
Instruction 825 and consistent with the Australian 
Standard 4360:2004.

Pricing Policy
Fees and charges levied by the College were 
in accordance with the requirements of the 
following;

• Vocational Education and Training Act 
(1996).

• Vocational Education and Training Regulations 
1996.

• 2006 Policy Guidelines for Publicly Funded VET 
Providers and Programs for Fees and Charges 
issued by the Department of Education and 
Training. 

Governance Outcomes
Good Governance

Advertising and Sponsorship
In accordance with Section 175ZE of the Electoral 
Act 1907, the following is a statement of all 
expenditure incurred by C.Y. O’Connor College 
of TAFE during 2006 in relation to advertising, 
market research, polling, direct mail and media 
advertising organisations:

Advertising Agencies nil
Market research organisations nil
Polling organisations nil
Direct mail organisations nil

Media Advertising Organisations 

Marketforce Productions $22,038.50
Media Decisions  $61,490.64
Other publications $5,963.03 

 Total $89,492.17 

            (GST exclusive)

Publications
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE publishes the 
following items which are available free of charge 
from the College.

Academic
• Fees & Charges Brochure
• Course Outlines (Online: Products & Services 

Catalogue)
• Refund Policy Brochure

Marketing & Community Relations
• 2006 Student Diary
• Website
• Four master course brochures semester one (one 

per region)
• Four master course brochures semester two 

(one per region)
• All Directions (student newsletter, February, 

June and November)
• Various subject brochures (DL)
• Annual Report 2005
• Indigenous “Welcome” brochure

Public Interest Disclosure
The Public Interest Disclosure Act (2003) came into 
effect on 1 July 2003, requiring the College to:

• Facilitate the disclosure of public interest 
information;

• Provide protection for those who make 
disclosures;

• Provide protection for those who are the subject 
of a disclosure.

College Policy COD08: Public Interest Disclosure. 
This policy details internal procedures relating 
to the College’s obligations under the Act, and 
the protection for persons who make disclosures 
under the Act. This Public Interest disclosure 
function is delegated to the office of the Director 
of Research and Planning. No Public Interest 
Disclosure requests were reported during 2006.



C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE Annual Report 2006 Page 43

 

 

Governance Outcomes
Good Governance

Recruitment
The College continued to advertise as widely 
as possible to attract the best candidates for all 
positions. For the year a total of 59 positions were 
advertised.

Acting Opportunities
The College demonstrated an ongoing commitment 
to investing in its staff by providing acting 
opportunities. For the year 2006 there were 15 
acting opportunities.

Professional & Career 
Development
During 2006, the equivalent of 174 staff participated 
in a total of 71 different PACD activities. A 
number of whole of College and area specific 
PACD activities were held during the year. These 
included:

•  Whole of College Induction day
•  Staff Selection Panel Training
•  OS&H Representatives Training
•  Verbal Judo
•  Senior First Aid
•  Preparation for Delivery
• Classroom Behaviour Management

Occupational Safety & Health
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE complies with 
the Occupational Safety and Health Act (1984). 
The College has a comprehensive program for 
monitoring, skills development, staff participation 
and reporting to ensure requirements of the 
Occupational Safety and Health Act (1984) are 
met.

An Occupational Safety & Health Committee 
was established and meetings are held every six 
weeks throughout the year. During 2006 four 
new officers were appointed as safety and health 
representatives for the work place and will be 
trained in early 2007.

   Agreement

  FTE People FTE

 69 65.25  71 66.02

People

General Agreement Lecturer’s Certified

Corruption Prevention
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE has undertaken 
reviews of relevant policies with respect to the 
issue of corruption and misconduct, with attention 
being paid to the issues of unauthorised access and 
disclosure of confidential information.

College Policy ITD04: IT Security embodies the 
delegated responsibility for managing compliance 
with privacy requirements and computer security 
within the role of the Manager Information 
Technology.

College Policy COD20: Confidentiality Policy 
delegates the responsibility for managing and 
securing the confidentiality of student records to 
the Director of Research and Planning.

College Policy HRD06: Employee Code of Conduct 
incorporates advice to staff on appropriate 
process to be followed to protect confidential 
information.

College Policy HRD06: Employee Code of Conduct 
specifies the process to be followed with respect 
to the acceptance of gifts and hospitality in 
accordance with TI 407. The College has also 
developed a register of gifts and benefits for the 
disclosure of gifts or benefits in excess of $50.00 in 
monetary value.

In addition to the policies and procedures 
established above, the College will further develop 
the processes with respect to the Premier’s Circular 
on Corruption prevention, with the Department of 
Education and Training’s internal audit section.

Staffing
The average College staffing level for the Year 
2006 was 136.75 FTE.
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Scholarships and Awards

Staff Excellence Awards Semester 
Two 2006
Samantha Connor, Access & Equity Officer
Stephen Madson, Lecturer PILE
Jacqui Zupanic, CSO Tradi

Programs/College
National
The Australian Training Initiative Award: for 
a project that demonstrates excellence and 
innovation in a leading edge initiative.
Innoviative Business Award: for demonstrating 
excellence in integrating technology in the 
operation of the organisations business and 
providing staff training.

State
Pretzel Logic Access & Equity Award 2006 won by 
CYOC and WACHS—Wheatbelt at WA Training 
Awards for the provision of exisiting worker 
traineeshiops for aged care workers in rural and 
remote western australia.

Students
CYOC Student of the Year: Stephen Hook
Apprentice of the Year: Steven Rakowski
Indigenous Student of the Year: Stewart Mippy
Trainee of the Year: Danica Kay
Primary Industries Student of the Year: Alan 
McCandlish
Trades student of the Year: Gordon Urquhart
Business and Community Services Student of the 
Year: Aprille Mitchell.

Winner of Inaugural James Dawson Memorial 
Award: Bill Mauchline.

Student Diary Cover Competition Winner: Tamara 
Johnson, Art student, Northam.

Northam Art Prize Shell Agricultural Award: 
Patricia Bonshore, Art Student, Northam.
Swan Catchment Council Art Award: Rita Ugle, 
Art student, Narrogin.

Staff
Best Non-Professional Publication, Australian 
Science Fiction Awards: Russell Farr, A/Manager 
Community Relations.

Managing Director’s Award (Academic): Elizabeth 
Haythornthwaite & Sharron Nottle.
Managing Director’s Award (Administration): 
Sylvia Wladyka;
Governing Council Award: Children’s Services 
Team: Penny Jaworski, Grace Dunstan, Fran Page 
and Deborah Clune.

C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE and WA Country Health Service—
Wheatbelt won two National awards for a joint training project for 

existing worker traineeshiops in Aged Care.
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Report on Operations
Certification of Key Performance Indicators

Audit Report on Key Performance Indicators
Key Performance Indicators Report
Financial Statements Declaration

Audit Report on Financial Statements
Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

Section Three
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Outcome
The provision of vocational education and training services to meet community and industry training 
needs.

Outputs
Organisation Performance Information

Quantity (Effectiveness)

Quality (Effectiveness)

 2004 2004 2005 2005 2006 2006
Measure Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Student Satisfaction
Percentage 85% 83% 85% 85% 85% 89%

Graduate Satisfaction 
Percentage N/A N/A 86% 88% N/A N/A 

Graduate Employment
Percentage N/A N/A 80% 83% N/A N/A

Successful Training 
Completions (MLOR) 62% 66.74% 65% 62.72% 65% 72.23%

 2004 2004 2005 2005 2006 2006
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Student Curriculum 
Hours (SCH) 650,000 619,938 589,000 602,451 646,405 563,667

Profile (College 
Resource Agreement) 570,848 571,471 523,000 496,313 546,405 496,214

Non-Profile (Commercial
Activities) 79,152 48,467 75,000 79,451 100,000 67,453

Access and Participation 90,000 71,823 56,700 52,620 58,905 51,175

Outcome, Outputs and Organisational 
Performance Information (Effectiveness)

Measure

Report on Operations
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 2004 2004 2005 2005 2006 2006
Measure Actual Target Actual Target Target Actual

College Delivery and
Performance Agreement  December  December  December  December  December December
Received  

Targets determined by Executive in consultation with Academic Managers and Directors.

Costs (Efficiency)

 2004 2004 2005 2005 2006 2006
Measure Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Cost per SCH for 
Aggregate College 
Delivery $18.21 $19.10 $19.00 $19.10 $19.60 $20.29

Timeliness (Effectiveness)

Report on Operations
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Report on Operations

Access and Participation SCH 
Delivery Levels
Access and Participation courses provide general 
education and employment preparation for special 
needs groups. Courses are designed to meet the 
specific needs of Indigenous people, women, 
Australians of culturally and linguistically diverse 
backgrounds and other special needs groups.

Notes:
The information for Access and Equity is based on 
SCH delivery and measures the extent to which 
the college is meeting the skills and training 
requirements of special needs groups. The measure 
is calculated using profile and non-profile SCH in 
stream 2000 courses, plus non-stream 2000 courses 
designed for targeted special needs groups (from 
the College Management Information System) 
and is expressed as a percentage of C.Y. O’Connor 
College of TAFE’s total SCH delivery. 

Explanation:
The percentage of Access and Participation 
SCH achieved is slightly below the target. C.Y. 
O’Connor College of TAFE remains committed to 
meeting the requirements of special needs groups 
in the Wheatbelt community.

Percentage of Non-Profiled Activity 
against Total College SCH

This indicator reveals the amount of College 
delivery which is undertaken to meet the training 
needs of industry, community and individuals that 
is additional to the College profile and conducted 
under commercial arrangements.

Notes:
This Performance Indicator was based on data from 
the College’s Management Information System 
(CMIS). It shows the percentage of non-profile 
SCH achieved compared to the Total College 
SCH. Non-profile delivery is that which is funded 
by means other than through the Delivery and 
Performance agreement between C.Y. O’Connor 
College and the WA Department of Training. 

Explanation:
The percentage of non-profile activity is slightly 
below the target set, there has been a continued 
focus on the development of fee for service and 
other commercial activity.

Percentage of Access and Participation SCH

15%

10%

5%

0%

20%

 2004 2005 2006 2006
   Target 

11%
10.3%

Profile and Non Profile SCH

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%

100%

Profile Non-Profile

 2004 2005 2006 2006
   Target

7%

10.6%

93%
15.5%

84.5%

13.8%

86.2% 88%

12%

10.8%
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Certification of Key Performance Indicators
for the year ended 31 December 2006

We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are 
relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the C.Y. O’Connor College of 
TAFE’s performance and fairly represent the performance of C.Y. O’Connor College 
of TAFE for the period 1 January 2006 to 31 December 2006.

Peter Mahler           Steven Pollard
Managing Director        Acting Chair, Governing Council
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE    C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE

14 March 2007



 
AUDITOR GENERAL 
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4th Floor Dumas House  2 Havelock Street  West Perth 6005  Western Australia  Tel: 08 9222 7500  Fax: 08 9322 5664 

INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION 
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
 
C Y O'CONNOR COLLEGE OF TAFE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006 
 
Qualification 
Controls over unauthorised changes to the suppliers’ master file were inadequate as there 
were no procedures in place to review changes made to suppliers’ master file data. This 
could result in unauthorised transactions being processed without detection. Consequently, 
assurance cannot be provided over the completeness and accuracy of payments transactions 
made to suppliers of $2 806 272, during the year ended 31 December 2006. Audit testing 
did not identify any material errors.  
 
Qualified Audit Opinion 
In my opinion, 

(i) except for the effects, if any, on the financial statements of the matter referred to 
in the qualification, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and 
present fairly the financial position of the C Y O’Connor College of TAFE at 
31 December 2006 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year 
ended on that date. They are in accordance with applicable Accounting Standards 
and other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions; 

(ii) except for the qualification, the controls exercised by the College provide 
reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of moneys, the 
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions; and 

(iii) the key effectiveness and efficiency performance indicators of the College are 
relevant and appropriate to help users assess the College’s performance and fairly 
represent the indicated performance for the year ended 31 December 2006. 

 
Scope 
During the year the Governing Council was responsible for keeping proper accounts and 
maintaining adequate systems of internal control, for preparing the financial statements and 
performance indicators, and complying with the Financial Administration and Audit Act 
1985 and other relevant written law. The Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 was 
repealed and replaced by the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Auditor General Act 
2006 from 1 February 2007. This did not impact on the agency’s operations or the audit 
work conducted during the year ended 31 December 2006. 
 
The financial statements consist of the Income Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of 
Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement and the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
 
The performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and efficiency. 



 

C Y O’Connor College of TAFE 
Financial statements and performance indicators for the year ended 31 December 2006 
 
 
Summary of my Role 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, I have independently audited the accounts, 
financial statements and performance indicators to express an opinion on the financial 
statements, controls and performance indicators. This was done by testing selected samples 
of the evidence. Further information on my audit approach is provided in my audit practice 
statement. Refer "http://www.audit.wa.gov.au/pubs/Audit-Practice-Statement.pdf". 
 
An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial statements 
and performance indicators is error free. The term “reasonable assurance” recognises that an 
audit does not examine all evidence and every transaction. However, my audit procedures 
should identify errors or omissions significant enough to adversely affect the decisions of 
users of the financial statements and performance indicators. 

 
COLIN MURPHY 
ACTING AUDITOR GENERAL 
22 March 2007 
 

 Page 2 of 2 
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Key Performance Indicators

Desired Outcome
The provision of vocational education and training 
services to meet community and industry training 
needs.

Effectiveness Indicators
The Effectiveness Indicators measure:

• Graduate Satisfaction
• Student Satisfaction
• Graduate Employment Status
• College Training Profile

The National Centre for Vocational Education 
Research conducts surveys with an appropriate 
sample design to produce statistically reliable 
College level data in alternative years commencing 
from 2005.

C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE has developed Key Performance Indicators which enable 
the College and its stakeholders to assess and monitor the achievement of its operations 
and to enhance public accountability for performance.

The Indicators report on both profile and non-profile training delivery under continuous 
review to improve definitions, remove ambiguity and to ensure that changing customer 
expectations, technology and the quality of the provision of Vocational Education and 
Training are taken into account. They relate to the organisation’s strategic priorities and 
outcomes.

C.Y. O’Connor College staff celebrate winning two National Awards
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Key Performance Indicators

The 2006 Student Satisfaction Survey was conducted 
by Colmar Brunton Intelligence for the Department 
of Education and Training and TAFEWA Colleges. 
The survey was divided into two separate 
survey instruments, one focussed on the needs of 
Employment Based Students (EBS) and the other 
on Institution Based Students (IBS).

The survey results are used by the College to 
formulate policy and enact changes aimed at 
improving the quality and relevance of the courses 
offered. In addition, the research is used to identify 
priorities for enhancing the quality of teaching, 
learning and assessment and to identify priorities 
for facilities development, aimed at improving 
student satisfaction with their college experience. 
This enables C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE to 
focus resources on a needs basis to maximise the 
quality of the learning experience. 

All students who had undertaken a course of study 
in 2006 were eligible to take part in the survey. 
Potential respondents were invited to respond to 
the receipt of a mail based survey, followed by a 
secondary dispatch to target groups who exhibited 
lower response rates. These responses were 
augmented by an on-line version and targeted 
telephone based follow up. All students had the 
opportunity to take part in the survey, even if they 
were not sent a paper-based survey. 

Response rates and sample error calculations 
for C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE are outlined 
below. 

Student Satisfaction Survey

Response Rates O v e r a l l 
Standard 
Error

Population  Individual  Sample % of
(Useable Students Achieved Students
Records) Contacted  Resp. % + or - 
 
1337  1054 280 27% 4.2% 
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Key Performance Indicators

The 2005 Student Outcomes Survey was conducted on behalf of the National Centre for Vocational 
Education Research (NCVER) with funding from the Australian National Training Authority 
(ANTA).

The aim of the 2005 Student Outcome Survey was to measure Vocational Education and Training (VET) 
employment outcomes, further study destinations, opinions of the participants on the courses completed 
and general student characteristics. 

The 2005 survey was administered to students who completed a Technical and Further Education (TAFE) 
course in 2004 at C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE.

The 2006 survey was conducted on a state and national level and as such no College specific data is 
available for 2006.

Student Outcomes Survey

Student Satisfaction

Effectiveness Indicator
The Student Satisfaction Rating measures the 
effectiveness of the College in meeting the training 
needs of students of Wheatbelt community.

Notes
1054 institution based students were contacted to 
provide a sample of 280 students—a 27% response 
rate.

This Performance Indicator was calculated using 
the collective responses reflecting how satisfied 
students were with their course at the College. The 
level of student satisfaction reflects the extent to 
which the VET services provided by the College are 
meeting community and industry training needs.

Explanation
In 2006, C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE had 
a Student Satisfaction level of 89%, which is 
above the State Average of 86%. Inherent in this 
measure is a figure of 49% of students who were 
very satisfied, which is a satisfaction level above 
the State average. These figures confirm that C.Y. 
O’Connor College of TAFE is positioned at the 
upper end of the scale of very satisfied students, 
and in line with other regional colleges and private 
training providers in overall satisfaction. 

 2004 2005 2006 2006
   state 

Student Satisfaction

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%

100%

Very Satisfied Satisfied

44%

41%42%

41% 50%

36%

40%

49%
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Notes
The published percentages in this report are 
calculated on the basis of the number of “valid” 
responses to each question. The “valid” responses 
comprise the total number of survey respondents 
less the number of respondents who did not answer 
the particular question of reference. The method 
used to calculate the percentages is the number 
of graduates who achieved or partly achieved 
their main reason for doing the course compared 
to the number of valid responses, expressed as a 
percentage.

Graduate Satisfaction

Effectiveness Indicator
Graduate Satisfaction is a Performance Indicator 
that measures the extent to which C.Y. O’Connor 
College of TAFE graduates believe that they had 
partly or fully achieved their main reason for 
undertaking the course and this is compared to the 
State and National averages. The level of Graduate 
Satisfaction reflects the extent to which the VET 
services provided by the College are meetings 
community and industry training needs.

  2003 2004 2005 2005  2006
   State State  State

Graduate Satisfaction

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%

84%

100%

85%
78%

88%86%

Key Performance Indicators

Graduate Employment Status

Effectiveness Indicator
The level of Graduate Employment reflects 
the extent to which the VET training programs 
provided by the College are meeting community 
and industry training needs. A key objective of the 
College is to provide graduates with the relevant 
skills to enter the workforce and/or re-train for 
employment while also meeting industry needs. 

Graduate Employment

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%

100%

Employed Unemployed

  2003 2003 2005 2005 2006
  State  State  State

Not in labour force

3%
83%

14%

8%

12%

80%

73%

14%15%

12% 9%

77%

88%

8%

81%

11%
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Key Performance Indicators

Measure B: Percentage of achieved SCH 
against profiled SCH by WADT Groups
Profile delivery is training which the WA 
Department of Education and Training purchases 
from  C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE under the 
terms of the Delivery and Performance Agreement. 
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE aims to provide 
training that meets the needs of community and 
industry. The Department of Education and 
Training administers the State Training Profile 
under specific industry groups which are aligned 
to industry and community employment needs.

Achievement of College Profile

Effectiveness Indicator
Measure A: Percentage of achieved SCH 
against profile delivery. 
This information shows the percentage of SCH 
achieved for profile funded activities as contracted 
with the Department of Education and Training 
for Vocational Education and Training through 
the Delivery and Performance Agreement. The 
percentage of Profile achieved reflects the measure 
of the College’s ability to provide VET services 
to satisfy the training needs of community and 
industry groups within the context of the State 
Training Profile parameters. 

Notes
The 2006 Planned data was obtained from the 2006 
Delivery and Performance Agreement. The Actual 
2006 SCH is the total profile SCH from the College 
Management Information System (CMIS). The 
achieved profile delivery is derived from actual 
SCH as a percentage of the total planned delivery. 
Achievement of the College profile is a measure of 
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE’s ability to meet 
the total number of planned SCH as agreed with 
the WA Department of Education and Training. 

Explanation
In 2006, the College delivered 90.8% of its planned 
Profile delivery. The College planned to deliver 
546,405 SCH and actually delivered 496,214 
Student Curriculum Hours. 

 2003 2004  2005 2006

Percentage of Profile Achieved

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%

100%
99.53% 100.12% 94.9%

90.8%
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Key Performance Indicators

Notes
The 2006 Planned SCH data was obtained from the 
Delivery and Performance Agreement (DPA) with 
the WA Department of Education and Training. 
Actual SCH are obtained from the College 
Management Information System (CMIS). The 
profile achievement percentage was calculated by 
dividing the achieved SCH by the planned SCH 
and expressed as a percentage. 

Explanation
The College continues to maintain its high level 
of achievement in all the major WADT groups. 
As per the State Training Strategy priorities for 
the Wheatbelt for 2004–2006 include: Just-In-Time 
short training programs to address specific and 
seasonal skill need in the agricultural sector. 

In the medium term, in response to labour trends, 
employment growth projections and consultation 
with regional stakeholders, training priorities 
include: Community Services—particularly 
those in Aged Care, Small Business Management, 
Land Management, Rural Business Management, 
literacy and numeracy and computer training, 
Automotive and Skills Recognition and training 
for indigenous people in Visual Arts and Cultural 
Tourism.

C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE’s profile planning 
reflects these trends. 

The following table represents the breadth of the College’s delivery. 

WADT Group Description

Recreation Sports and Entertainment
Visual and Performing Arts
Automotive
Building and Construction
Surveying and Building
Community Service Workers
Education and Childcare
Health
Finance Insurance Property Service Workers
Food Trades & Processing
Clothing Footwear and Soft Furnishings
Furniture Manufacture
Metal and Mining
Forestry Farming and Landcare
Fishing
Horticulture
Retail
Cooking
Hospitality
Tourism
Transport Trades Storage and Associated
Electrical and Electronic Engineering
Accounting and other Business Services
Management
Office and Clerical
Computing
Science and Technical Workers
Adult Literacy_ELS
Miscellaneous
Targeted Access and Participation Courses
 
 TOTAL

01A
01B
02A
03A
03B
04A
04B
04C
05A
06A
07A
07B
09B
10B
10C
10D
12B
13A
13B
13C
14A
15A
16A
16B
16C
17A
18A
19B
19D
19E

2005 2006

WADT 
Group Planned

5 500
31 900
31 100

7 000
4 000

71 838
48 352

-
500

1 500
5 000
6 000

29 500
55 400

500
30 000

4 700
5 295
2 500
8 000

700
-

10 415
13 500
41 100
52 000

-
38 100

1 000
17 600

523 000

Actual

5 113
31 640
26 875

5 098
2 430

61 573
47 490

-
70

1 620
3 070
4 932

22 414
63 517

0
28 326

6 359
6 520
3 249
8 503

200
-

11 860
13 990
40 670
48 174

-
37 800

440
14 380

496 313

Actual%

92.96%
99.18%
86.41%
72.83%
60.75%
85.71%
98.22%

-
14%

108%
61.4%
82.2%

75.98%
114.65%

0%
94.42%
135.3%

123.14%
129.96%
106.29%

28.57%
-

113.87%
103.63%

98.95%
92.64%

-
99.21%

44%
81.7%

94.9%

Planned

13 000
35 900
34 100
13 500

3 000
53 638
62 757

6 000
-

500
2 000
8 000

28 000
60 500

500
12 000

9 615
8 795
3 795
6 000
2 500 

-
10 900 
16 500
36 100
59 900

37 800
52-

21 105

546 405

Actual

26 964
 24 035
27 353
16 914

8 430
 60 136
60 762

0
-
0

365
8 170

21 008
58 357

0
7 079
6 590
5 815
1 962
2 848

320
-

9 595
14 720
34 775
48 797

44
30 815

-
20 360

496 214

Actual%

207.41%
66.94%
80.21%

125.28%
281%

112.11%
96.82%

0%
-

0%
18.25%

102.12%
75.02%
96.45%

0%
58.99%
68.53%
66.11%
51.69%
47.46%

12.8%
-

88.02%
89.21%
96.32%
81.46%

81.52%
-%

96.47

90.81%
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Key Performance Indicators

Efficiency Indicator
The efficiency indicator measures the overall cost 
per Student Curriculum Hour (SCH) for total 
College delivery. 

Notes
The Cost per SCH Performance Indicator is a 
measure of C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE’s 
efficiency and is averaged across all programs and 
is inclusive of all funding.

This measure is derived by dividing the Total 
Operating Expenses, measured on an accrual basis, 
by the total Student Curriculum Hours delivered. 
The data comes from the financial statement.

Explanation
The overall Cost per Student Curriculum Hour 
for 2006 is $20.29. This is greater than last year’s 
figure of $19.10.

Cost per SCH

$10

$0

$20

$15

$5

$19.10

   2004 2005 2006 2006
   Target

$19.10 $19.60 $20.29

$25
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In the year ending 31 December 2006 

The accompanying financial statements for C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE have been prepared 
in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 from 
proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the year ending 31 
December 2006 and the financial position as at 31 December 2006

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in the Financial Statements misleading or inaccurate.

David Rampono          Steven Pollard
Principal Accounting Officer      Acting Chair, Governing Council
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE     C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE

Peter Mahler
Managing Director
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE

27 February 2007
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INCOME STATEMENT 2006 2005
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

Notes $ $
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6 7,492,895             6,854,025                  
Supplies and services 7 2,665,305             2,187,090                  
Depreciation expense 8 688,569                547,453                     
Finance costs 9 3,137                    -                             
Grants and subsidies 10 29,105                  36,677                       
Capital user charge 11 965,365                872,498                     
Cost of sales 16 152,701                140,640                     
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 20 39,753                  -                             
Other expenses 12 1,048,914             497,454                     
Total cost of services 13,085,745           11,135,837                

Income
Revenue
Fee for service 13 313,218                463,612                     
Student fees and charges 14 722,780                721,627                     
Ancillary trading 15 13,326                  -                             
Sales 16 198,314                203,697                     
Commonwealth grants and contributions 17 10,013                  -                             
Interest revenue 18 104,219                79,132                       
Other revenue 19 92,007                  162,668                     
Total revenue 1,453,877             1,630,736                  

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 20 -                        11,539                       
Total Gains -                        11,539                       

Total income other than income from State Government 1,453,877             1,642,275                  

NET COST OF SERVICES  (11,631,868)          (9,493,562)                 

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 21
State funds 10,800,682           9,876,563                  
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 136                       -                             
Resources received free of charge 843,515                592,516                     
Total income from State Government 11,644,332           10,469,079                

12,465                  975,517                     

The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

C Y O'Connor College of TAFE

SURPLUS FOR PERIOD
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C Y O'Connor College of TAFE
BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2006 2006 2005

Notes $ $
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 31 3,092,478             2,607,207                  
Inventories 22 49,604                  69,697                       
Receivables 23 915,620                662,631                     
Other current assets 24 97,728                  4,197                         
Total Current  Assets 4,155,430             3,343,732                  

Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant, equipment and vehicles 25 12,484,790           9,953,451                  
Total Non-Current Assets 12,484,790           9,953,451                  

TOTAL ASSETS 16,640,220           13,297,183                

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 27 490,711                3,153                         
Provisions 28 736,008                673,581                     
Other current liabilities 29 1,129,804             839,086                     
Total Current Liabilities 2,356,523             1,515,820                  

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 28 420,522                368,815                     
Total Non-Current Liabilities 420,522                368,815                     

Total Liabilities 2,777,045             1,884,635                  

NET ASSETS 13,863,175           11,412,548                

Equity 30
Contributed equity 176,635                176,635                     
Reserves 4,154,431             1,368,142                  
Accumulated surplus 9,532,109             9,867,771                  

TOTAL  EQUITY 13,863,175           11,412,548                

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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C Y O'Connor College of TAFE
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006 2006 2005

Notes $ $
Balance of equity at start of period 11,412,548           10,437,032                

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 30
Balance at start of period 176,635                176,635                     
Balance at end of period 176,635                176,635                     

RESERVES 30
Asset Revaluation Reserve
Balance at start of period 1,368,142             1,368,142                  
Gains from asset revaluation 2,786,289             -                             
Balance at end of period 4,154,431             1,368,142                  

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (RETAINED EARNINGS) 30
Balance at start of period 9,867,772             8,892,255                  
Change in accounting policy or correction of prior period errors (348,128)               -                             
Restated balance at start of period 9,519,644             8,892,255                  
Surplus for the period 12,465                  975,517                     
Balance at end of period 9,532,109             9,867,772                  

Balance of equity at the end of period 13,863,175           11,412,548                

Total income and expenses for the period 2,798,754             975,517                     

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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C Y O'Connor College of TAFE
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006 2006 2005

Notes $ $
Balance of equity at start of period 11,412,548           10,437,032                

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 30
Balance at start of period 176,635                176,635                     
Balance at end of period 176,635                176,635                     

RESERVES 30
Asset Revaluation Reserve
Balance at start of period 1,368,142             1,368,142                  
Gains from asset revaluation 2,786,289             -                             
Balance at end of period 4,154,431             1,368,142                  

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (RETAINED EARNINGS) 30
Balance at start of period 9,867,772             8,892,255                  
Change in accounting policy or correction of prior period errors (348,128)               -                             
Restated balance at start of period 9,519,644             8,892,255                  
Surplus for the period 12,465                  975,517                     
Balance at end of period 9,532,109             9,867,772                  

Balance of equity at the end of period 13,863,175           11,412,548                

Total income and expenses for the period 2,798,754             975,517                     

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

C Y O'Connor College of TAFE
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006 2006 2005

Notes $ $
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Recurrent state funding - Department of Education and Training 9,922,606             9,265,067                  
Net cash provided by State Government 9,922,606             9,265,067                  

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (6,643,017)            (6,593,549)                 
Supplies and services (1,938,857)            (1,466,679)                 
Grants and subsidies (29,105)                 (36,677)                      
Capital user charge (483,521)               (872,498)                    
Cost of Sales (132,607)               -                             
GST payments on purchases (304,732)               (259,396)                    
GST payments to taxation authority (8,350)                   (5,122)                        
Other payments (1,359,341)            (182,552)                    

Receipts
Fee for service 390,619                463,012                     
Student fees and charges 815,344                721,627                     
Ancillary trading 13,326                  -                             
Interest received 104,088                79,132                       
Commonwealth grants and contributions 10,013                  -                             
GST receipts on sales 126,614                158,668                     
GST receipts from taxation authority 177,731                96,210                       
Other receipts 290,321                224,097                     
Net cash used in operating activities 31 (8,971,474)            (7,673,727)                 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets 303,144                246,871                     
Purchase of non-current physical assets (769,006)               (984,530)                    
Net cash used in investing activities (465,862)               (737,659)                    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 485,271                853,681                     

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 2,607,207             1,753,526                  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 31 3,092,478             2,607,207                  

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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C Y O'Connor College of TAFE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

1 Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards
The College's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2006 have been prepared in accordance with Australian equivalents to International
 Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) which comprise a Framework for  the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (the Framework),
 Australian Accounting Standards and the Urgent Issues Group (UIG) Interpretation.

In preparing these financial statements the College has adopted, where relevant to its operations, new and revised Standards and Interpretations from their operative
dates as issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB) and UIG

The Financial Administration and Audit Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative provisions governing the preparation of financial statements and take 
precedence over the Accounting Standards, UIG Interpretations and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.

Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b)  Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, modified by the revaluation of land, buildings, plant
equipment which have been measured at fair value. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The judgements that have been made in the process of applying the College’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements are disclosed at note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’.

The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that have a significant risk of 
causing a material  adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed at note 4 ‘Key sources of
estimation uncertainty’.

(d) Contributed Equity
UIG Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions to be
designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions  by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity
contributions. Capital contributions (appropriations) are designated as contributions by owners by Treasurer's Instruction (TI) 955 'Contributed by Owners made 
to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities' and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

Transfer of net assets to/from other agencies are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.
See note 30 'Equity'.

(e) Income
Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follow:

The funds received from the Department of Education and Training in respect of the delivery of services forming part of the Delivery Performance Agreement have been 
disclosed as State Funds under  'Revenues from State Government'.   This revenue is recognised in the period in which the College meets the terms of the  Agreement.

The majority of operating revenue of the College represents revenue earned  from student fees and charges, fee for service, ancillary services,  trading activities and
Commonwealth grants and subsidies, as well as revenue received from the Department of Education and Training as a result of training successfully tendered for under
competitive tendering arrangements.  Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets, and the rendering of  services is recognised when the College has
passed control of the goods or other assets, or delivery of the service to the customer.

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership control transfer to the purchaser and can
be measured reliably. 

Rendering of services
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the College obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received. 

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value
can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obtained on the condition that they be expended in a particular manner or used over a
particular period, and those conditions were undischarged as at the balance sheet date, the nature of, and amounts pertaining to, those undischarged conditions are 
disclosed in the notes.

Gains
Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis.  These include gains arising on the disposal of non current assets and some revaluations of 
non - current assets.

(f)  Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs for qualifying assets are capitalised net of any investment income earned on the unexpended portion of the borrowings.  Other borrowing costs are
expensed when incurred.
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C Y O'Connor College of TAFE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

(g)  Property, Vehicles, Plant and Equipment
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing over $1,000 are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over 
their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than $1,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Income Statement (other 
than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
All items of property, vehicles, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

For items of property, vehicles, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement 
After recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and  buildings and the cost model for all other property, plant and equipment.  Land and 
buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and accumulated impairment losses.  All other items of property, vehicles, plant and equipment 
are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market buying values determined by reference to 
recent market transactions.  When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transaction, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated 
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount. 

Where market-based evidence is not available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing use.  This normally applies where buildings are 
specialised or where land use is restricted.  Fair value for existing use assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value buildings is dependent on using the depreciated replacement cost, the gross carrying 
amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately. 

Independent valuation of land and buildings are performed independently on an annual basis by the Department of Land Information (Valuation Services).
with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset's fair value at the balance sheet date.

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets.  Professional judgement by the valuer 
is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.

Refer to note 25 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ for further information on revaluations.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of their future 
economic benefits.

Land is not depreciated.  Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually.  Expected useful lives for
each class of depreciable asset are:

Buildings
Motor Vehicles, Caravans and Trailers
Plant, Furniture and General Equipment
Computing, Communications and Software

Works of art controlled by the College are classified as plant, property and equipment which is anticipated to have a very long and indefinite useful live.  Their service
potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period and so no depreciation has been recognised.

(h)  Impairment of Assets
Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at each balance sheet date.  Where there is 
an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.  As the College is a not for profit entity, unless an asset has been
identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated or where the replacement cost is falling.  Each 
relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s 
future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

(n) Receivables
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance of any provision for uncollectible amounts (impairment).  The collectability of 
receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written off.  The provision for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is 
raised when collectability is no longer probable.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.  See note 2(j) ‘Financial
Instruments’ and note 23 ‘Receivables’.

(o)  Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the College becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services.  The carrying
amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days.  See note 2(j) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 27 ‘Payables’.

(p)  Borrowings
All loans are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the net proceeds received.  Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. See note 2(j) ‘Financial Instruments’.
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C Y O'Connor College of TAFE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

(q)  Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present legal, equitable or constructive obligation as a result of a past event 
and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and can be measured reliably.  Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date.
See note 29 ‘Provisions’

the end of the balance sheet date is measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  Leave liabilities are in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the balance sheet date.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions.  In addition, the long service leave liability also considers the experience of employee departures and periods of service.

The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the balance sheet date on national government bonds with terms to maturity that
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the College does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers the following superannuation schemes.

Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now closed to new members or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS),
a defined benefit lump sum scheme also closed to new members.

The College has no liabilities under the Pension or the GSS Schemes.  The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS Scheme transfer
benefits due to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer.  All other GSS Scheme obligations are funded by concurrent
contributions made by the College to the GESB. The concurrently funded part of the GSS Scheme is a defined contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish
all liabilities in respect of the concurrently funded GSS Scheme obligations.

Employees who are not members of either the Pension or the GSS Schemes become non contributory members of the West State Superannuation (WSS) Scheme, an 
accumulation scheme.  The College makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s 
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  These contributions extinguish all liabilities in respect of the WSS Scheme.

The GESB makes all benefit payments and is recouped by the Treasurer for the employer share in respect of the Pension and GSS Scheme transfer benefits.

See also note 2(r) ‘Superannuation expense’.

(ii)  Provisions -Other
Employment On Costs 
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised as separate liabilities and expenses when the 
employment to which they relate has occurred.  Employment on-costs are not included as part of the College’s ‘Employee benefits expense’ and the related liability
is included in employment on-costs provision. (See note 12 ‘Other expenses’ and note 28 ‘Provisions’).

(r)  Superannuation Expense
The following elements are included in calculating a superannuation expense in the Income Statement:

      (a) Defined benefit plans - Change in the unfunded employer’s liability (i.e. current service cost and actuarial gains and losses) assumed by the Treasurer in respect of 
      current employees who are members of the Pension Scheme and current employees who accrued a benefit on transfer from that Scheme to the Gold State 
      Superannuation Scheme (GSS); and

     (b) Defined contribution plans - Employer contributions paid to the GSS and the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS).

     Defined benefit plans  - in order to reflect the true cost of services, the movements in the liabilities in respect of the Pension Scheme and the GSS transfer benefits are 
     recognised as expenses.  As these liabilities are assumed by the Treasurer, a revenue titled ‘Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer’ equivalent to the
     expense is recognised under Income from State Government in the Income Statement (See note 21 ‘Income from State Government’).

(s) Resources Received Free of Charge or for Nominal Value
Resources received free of charge or for nominal value which can be reliably measured are recognised as revenues and as assets or expenses, as appropriate at fair value.
(t)  Comparative Figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures  presented in the current financial year.

3 Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

No significant judgements have been made that would materially alter the current financial results of the college. 

4 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include:

A refund is probable to the Department of Education and Training for under delivery of the Delivery and Performance Agreement.  The amount of the refund is an estimate 
of Student Curriculum Hours (SCH) in mid January 2007.  Final SCH data is not required to be submitted until the end of February 2007. Also the Invalid Module Enrolment (IME) rate 
which affects the the refund calculation is not known at the time of reporting.

A discount rate of 5.89% per annum was applied to long service leave provisions.  The discount rate is based upon the Commonwealth 10 year Treasury bond rates published 
by the Reserve Bank of Australia. 

 to Australian Accounting Standards' [AASB 119]'. The revisions to AASB 119 and the amending Standards deal with options regarding the  recognition of actuarial

gains and losses associated with defined benefit plans and changes to disclosures for defined benefit plans. The College is not affected by these changes and as a result
there is no financial impact in applying these Standards. 

2. AASB 2005-9 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards' [AASB 4, AASB1023, AASB 139 & AASB 132]' (Financial guarantee contracs). The amendment
deals with the treatment of financial guarantee contracts, credit insurance contracts, letters of credit or credit derivative default contracts as either an 'insurance 
contracts' under AASB 4 'Insurance Contracts' or as a "financial guarantee contract" under AASB 139 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'.
The College does not currently undertake these types of transactions, resulting in no financial impact in applying the Standard.

3. UIG Interpreation 4 'Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease'. This Interpretation deals with arrangements that comprise a transaction or a series of 
date, the College has not entered into any arrangements as specified in the Interpretation, resulting in no impact in applying the Interpretation. 

The following accounting standards and interpretations are not applicable to the College as they have no impact. 

AASB Standards and Interpretations
2005-1  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards' (AASB 139 - Cash Flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup transactions)
2005-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards' [AASB 1 and AASB 139]
2006-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards' [AASB 121]
2006-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards' [AASB 1]
2006-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards' [AASB 1045]
UIG 5 Rights to Interest arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds'.
UIG 6 Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market - Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment'.

Voluntary changes in Accounting Policy

There have been no voluntary changes to accounting policies during the period. 
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C Y O'Connor College of TAFE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative. 
The College cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or UIG Interpretation unles specifically permitted by TI 1101 'Application of Australian
Accounting Standards and Other Pronoucements' Consequently, the College has not applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and UIG Interpretations
that have been issued but are not yet effective. These will be applied from their application date:

1. AASB 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures' (including consequential amendments in AASB 2005-10 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 132,
AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]. This Standard requires new disclosures in relation to financial 
instruments. The Standard is considered to result in increased disclosures, both quantitative and qualitative of the College's exposure to risks, enhanced disclosure
regarding components of the College's financial position and performance, and possible changes to the way of presenting certain items in the financial statements. The 
College does not expect any financial impact when the Standards is first applied, The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning or after
1 January 2007. 
from the host contract and accounted for as a derivatives in certain circumstances. At balance sheet date, the College has not entered into any contracts as specified in 
the Interpretation resulting in no impact when the Interpretation is first applied. The Interpretation is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on 

The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are not applicable to the College as they will have no impact:

UIG 10 -Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment',
3 Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

No significant judgements have been made that would materially alter the current financial results of the college. 

4 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include:

A refund is probable to the Department of Education and Training for under delivery of the Delivery and Performance Agreement.  The amount of the refund is an estimate 
of Student Curriculum Hours (SCH) in mid January 2007.  Final SCH data is not required to be submitted until the end of February 2007. Also the Invalid Module Enrolment (IME) rate 
which affects the the refund calculation is not known at the time of reporting.

A discount rate of 5.89% per annum was applied to long service leave provisions.  The discount rate is based upon the Commonwealth 10 year Treasury bond rates published 
by the Reserve Bank of Australia. 

5 Disclosure of changes in Accounting Policy and Estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The College has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and UIG Interpretations effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2006

1. AASB 119 'Employee Benefits' as issued in December 2004, AASB 2004-3 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards' and AASB 2005-3  'Amendments
 to Australian Accounting Standards' [AASB 119]'. The revisions to AASB 119 and the amending Standards deal with options regarding the  recognition of actuarial
gains and losses associated with defined benefit plans and changes to disclosures for defined benefit plans. The College is not affected by these changes and as a result
there is no financial impact in applying these Standards. 

2. AASB 2005-9 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards' [AASB 4, AASB1023, AASB 139 & AASB 132]' (Financial guarantee contracs). The amendment
deals with the treatment of financial guarantee contracts, credit insurance contracts, letters of credit or credit derivative default contracts as either an 'insurance 
contracts' under AASB 4 'Insurance Contracts' or as a "financial guarantee contract" under AASB 139 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'.
The College does not currently undertake these types of transactions, resulting in no financial impact in applying the Standard.

3. UIG Interpreation 4 'Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease'. This Interpretation deals with arrangements that comprise a transaction or a series of 
linked transactions that may not involve a legal form of a lease but by their nature are deemed to be leases for the purposes of applying AASB 117 'Leases'. At balance
date, the College has not entered into any arrangements as specified in the Interpretation, resulting in no impact in applying the Interpretation. 

The following accounting standards and interpretations are not applicable to the College as they have no impact. 

AASB Standards and Interpretations
2005-1  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards' (AASB 139 - Cash Flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup transactions)
2005-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards' [AASB 1 and AASB 139]
2006-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards' [AASB 121]
2006-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards' [AASB 1]
2006-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards' [AASB 1045]
UIG 5 Rights to Interest arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds'.
UIG 6 Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market - Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment'.

Voluntary changes in Accounting Policy

There have been no voluntary changes to accounting policies during the period. 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative. 
The College cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or UIG Interpretation unles specifically permitted by TI 1101 'Application of Australian
Accounting Standards and Other Pronoucements' Consequently, the College has not applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and UIG Interpretations
that have been issued but are not yet effective. These will be applied from their application date:

1. AASB 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures' (including consequential amendments in AASB 2005-10 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 132,
AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]. This Standard requires new disclosures in relation to financial 
instruments. The Standard is considered to result in increased disclosures, both quantitative and qualitative of the College's exposure to risks, enhanced disclosure
regarding components of the College's financial position and performance, and possible changes to the way of presenting certain items in the financial statements. The 
College does not expect any financial impact when the Standards is first applied, The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning or after
1 January 2007. 

2. AASB 2005-10 ' Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AASB 132, AASB 101 AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, 
 AASB 1023, & AASB 1038)'. Ther amendmends are as a result of the issue of AASB 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosure', which amends the financial instrument
disclosure requirements in these standards. The College does not expect any financial impact when the Standard is first applied. This Standard is required to be
applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. 

3. UIG 9 'Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives'. This Interpretation requires an embedded derivatives that has been combined with a non-derivatives to be separated
from the host contract and accounted for as a derivatives in certain circumstances. At balance sheet date, the College has not entered into any contracts as specified in 
the Interpretation resulting in no impact when the Interpretation is first applied. The Interpretation is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 June 2006. 

4. AASB 101 'Presentation of Financial Statements'. This Standard was revised and issued in October 2006 so that AASB 101 has the same requirements as
IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements' (as issued by the IASB) in respect of for-profit entities. The College is a not-for-profit entity and consequently does not
expect any financial impact when the Standards is first applied. The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. 

The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are not applicable to the College as they will have no impact:

AASB Standards and Interpretations-
AASB 1049-Financial Reporting of General Government Sectors by Governments
2006-2 -Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AASB 1)
2006-3-Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AASB 1045)  [As per advise by DTF verbally - 21 Nov 2006]
UIG 7 -Applying the Restatement Approach under AASB 129 'Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economics'
UIG 8-Scope of AASB 2
UIG 10 -Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment',
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2006 2005
$ $

6 Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (a) 6,762,167            6,593,549
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (West State) (b) 602,906              656,517
Superannuation - defined benefit plans (Gold State) (c)(d) 136                     -
Long service leave (e) 33,589                (228,934)
Annual leave (e) 94,097                (167,107)

7,492,895            6,854,025            
(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefit tax component.
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State (contribution paid).
(c) Defined benefit plans include Pension scheme and Gold State (pre-transfer benefit).
(d) An equivalent notional income is also recognised (see note 21 'Income from State Government').
(e) Includes a superannuation contribution component.

7 Supplies and services
Consumables and minor equipment 417,554              572,865
Communication expenses 152,305              208,703
Utilities expenses 105,915              106,918
Consultancies and contracted services 1,410,256            756,908
Minor works 111,617              57,203
Repairs and maintenance 125,215              124,285
Operating lease and hire charges 47,625                57,329
Travel and passenger transport 49,260                59,600
Advertising and public relations 133,247              101,058
Supplies and services - other 112,311              142,221

2,665,305            2,187,090

8 Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation
Buildings 252,701              225,543
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 136,675              69,787
Plant, furniture and general equipment 143,828              116,657
Computers and communication network 155,365              135,466
Total depreciation and amortisation 688,569              547,453

9 Finance costs
Other interest expense 3,137                  -

3,137                  -

10 Grants and subsidies

Apprentices and trainees (travel, accommodation and other off the job assistance) 29,105                36,677
29,105                36,677

11 Capital user charge

Capital user charge expense 965,365              872,498

12 Other expenses

Doubtful debts expense 23,504                25,096
Employment on-costs (a) 556,469              424,141
Donations 460                     -
Student prizes and awards 949                     165
Losses and write-offs 60,402                6,114
Other (b) Miscellaneous 44,799                687
Other (c) Refund of prior year (2006) DPA 362,331              41,251

1,048,914            497,454
(a) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-cost.  The on-costs liability  associated with the recognition
of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 28.  Provision for superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision
for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.
(b) Expenditure not allocated pending credit card acquittals.
(c)  DPA Funding refund expense

13 Fee for service
Fee for service - general 283,581              391,618
Fee for service - Department of Education and Training 4,488                  71,994
Fee for service - government (other than Department of Education and Training) 25,150                -

313,218              463,612

14 Student fees and charges
Tuition fees 453,910              426,951
Enrolment fees 74,599                65,293
Resource fees 191,425              223,476
Other college fees 2,846                  5,907

722,780              721,627

15 Ancillary trading
Live works (not a trading activity)
Contracting and consulting 10,773                -
Other ancillary revenue 2,553                  -

13,326                -

16 Trading Profit

(a) Bookshop:
Sales 116,762              142,817

Cost of sales:
Opening inventory (69,697)               (94,304)
Purchases (85,782)               (78,828)

(155,479)             (173,132)
Closing inventory (49,604)               (69,697)

Cost of goods sold (105,876)             (103,435)

Trading Profit - Bookshop                               10,887                39,382

(b) Cafeteria (Non Training Related)
Sales 81,552                60,880

Cost of sales:
Opening inventory -                      -
Purchases (46,825)               (37,205)

(46,825)               (37,205)
Closing inventory -                      -

Cost of goods sold (46,825)               (37,205)

Trading Profit - Cafeteria 34,727                23,675

45,614                63,057
See note 2(m) 'Inventories' and note 22 'Inventories'

of the College, excluding exempt assets, and is paid to the Department of Treasury and Finance quarterly. (2005 rate 8%)

Employment on-costs such as workers' compensation insurance are included at note 12 'Other expenses'.  The employment 
on-costs liability is included at note 28 'Provisions'

The Government applies a levy for the use of its capital for the delivery of services.  It is applied at 8% per annum on the net assets 
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2006 2005

17 Commonwealth grants and contributions
Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions 10,013                -

10,013                -
This was a grant from Department of Science Education and Training for the WELL program.

18 Interest Revenue
Interest Revenue 104,219              79,132

Interest is generated from monies held in current and Term deposit accounts

19 Other revenue
Rental and facilities fees 8,859                  9,179
Sponsorship and donations revenue 2,100                  72,228
Miscellaneous revenue 81,048                81,261

92,007                162,668

20 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets

Costs of disposal of non-current assets
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers (287,656)             (234,815)
Plant, furniture and general equipment (37,748)               (516)
Computers and communication network (675)                    (1)

(326,079)             (235,332)
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 260,900              237,323
Plant, furniture and general equipment 21,427                -
Computers and communication network 3,815                  9,548
Library Book Recoveries 184                     -

286,326              246,871

Net gain/(loss) (39,753)               11,539

See note 25 'property, plant and equipment and vehicles"

21 Income from State government
State funds (received from Department of Education and Training)

Delivery and Performance Agreement (DPA) 8,933,361            7,839,215
Superannuation 605,167              604,520
Other recurrent funds 296,789              560,330
Capital User Charge funding 965,365              872,498

10,800,682          9,876,563

The following liabilities have been assumed by the Treasurer during the financial year.
Superannuation (a) 136                     -
Total Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 136                     -

Resources received free of charge determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies (b)
Department of Education and Training

* Corporate systems support 741,003              564,657
* Marketing and publications -                      27,859
* Human resources, industrial relations support 75,717                -
* Other 26,795                -

843,515               592,516

22 Inventories
Current
Inventories held for resale:

Bookshop (at cost) 49,604                69,697
Total current 49,604                69,697

See also note 2(m) "Inventories" and note 16 "Trading Profit".

23 Receivables

Current
Receivables - trade 395,379              542,908
Receivables - students 44,236                69,898
Receivables - CUC 481,844              
Allowance for impairment of receivables (74,022)               (50,518)
GST receivable -                      8,604

847,437              570,892

Prepayments 68,183                91,739
Total current 915,620              662,631

See also note 2 (n) 'Receivables' and note 36 'Financial Instruments'.

24 Other assets
Current
Accrued income - Interest on Term Deposit 4,328                  4,197
Other (a) 93,400                -
Total current 97,728                4,197

(a) Energy Smart Government Capital Advance Program from the Sustainable Energy Office -  The College was advised it was successful in 
its application to receive funding of up to $93,400 based upon recoupment after presentation of valid invoices.  These have been submitted and the 
College will receive recoupment within the next 12 months. 

(except where the contribution of assets or services is in the nature of contributions by owners, in which case the College
shall make a direct adjustment to equity) equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services 
that can be reliably determined and which would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall 
 be recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable.

expense reported in respect of current employees who are members of the Pension Scheme and current employees who have a 
transfer benefit entitlement under the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (The notional superannuation 
expense is disclosed at note 6 'Employee Benefits Expense'.)

(b) Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal consideration, the College recognises revenues 

(a) The assumption of the superannuation liability by the Treasurer is a nominal  income to match the notional superannuation 
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2006 2005

25 Property, plant, equipment and vehicles

Freehold Land
At fair value (a) 104,800              46,900

Buildings
At fair value (a) 11,194,300          9,021,741
Accumulated depreciation (139,929)             (443,059)

11,054,371          8,578,683
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 
At cost 575,568              529,184
Accumulated depreciation (156,945)             (101,276)

418,623              427,908
Plant,  furniture and general equipment
At cost 1,198,912            1,072,611
Accumulated depreciation (613,540)             (516,173)

585,372              556,437
Computer equipment, communication network
At cost 866,992              812,150
Accumulated depreciation (545,368)             (468,627)

321,624              343,523

12,484,790          9,953,451

(a) Freehold land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2006 by the Department of Land Information (Valuation Services). The valuations
were performed during the year ended 31 December 2006 and recognised at 1 July 2006. The fair value of all land and buildings was determined by reference
to depreciated replacement costs. See note 2(g) 'Property, vehicles, plant and equipment'.

The revaluation increment was determined after crediting accumulated depreciation against the previous fair value of the buildings.

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment and vehicles at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out below

2006 Land Buildings

Motor vehicles, 
caravans and 

trailers

Plant,  furniture 
and general 
equipment

Computer
equipment,

communication
network Total

Carrying amount at start of year 46,900                8,578,683           427,908            556,437            343,523            9,953,451
Additions -                      -                     414,933            219,184            134,892            769,009
Transfer -                      -                     112                   633 (745)                  -
Disposal -                      - (287,656) (47,055) (681) (335,392)
Revaluation Increments 57,900                2,728,389           -                    -                    -                    2,786,289
Depreciation expense -                      (252,701) (136,675) (143,828) (155,365) (688,569)
 Carrying amount at end of year 104,800              11,054,371         418,623            585,372            321,624            12,484,790

2005 Land Buildings

Motor vehicles, 
caravans and 

trailers

Plant,  furniture 
and general 
equipment

Computer
equipment,

communication
network Total

Carrying amount at start of year 46,900                8,804,226           401,567            365,555            315,517            9,933,765
Additions -                      -                     342,943            316,293            162,648            821,884
Disposals -                      - (239,608) (8,753) (71) (248,432)
Depreciation expense -                      (225,543) (76,994) (116,657) (134,571) (553,764)
 Carrying amount at end of year 46,900                8,578,683           427,908            556,437            343,523            9,953,451

26 Impairment of Assets

There were no indications of impairment of property plant, equipment and intangibles as at 31 December 2006.

The College held no goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite useful life during the balance sheet period and at reporting date there were
 no intangible assets not yet available for use.

All surplus assets as at 31 December 2006 have been classified as assets held for sale or written off.

27 Payables
Current
Trade payables 4,714                  3,153
GST payable 4,153                  -
Capital User Charge payable 481,844              -
Total current 490,711              3,153

See also note 2(q) 'Payables' and note 36  'Financial Instruments'

28 Provisions

Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a) 139,772              124,568
Long service leave (b) 492,809              416,016

632,581              540,584
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c) 103,427              132,997

103,427              132,997

Total current 736,008              673,581

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave
Long service leave (b) 361,428              320,709

361,428              320,709
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c) 59,094                48,106

59,094                48,106

Total non current 420,522              368,815

Within 12 months of  balance sheet period 173,947              124,568
173,947              124,568

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 
12 months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

With in 12 months of balance sheet date 562,061              549,013
More than 12 months of balance sheet date 420,522              368,815

982,583              917,828

Movements in Other Provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below.

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of year 181,103              195,488
Reduction in provisions recognised (18,582)               (14,385)
Carrying amount at end of year 162,521              181,103

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including 
payroll tax and workers compensation premiums.  The provision is the present value of expected of expected future payments.  The
associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 13 'Other expenses'.

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:
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2006 2005

29 Other liabilities

Current
Income received in advance (a) 78,645                9,178
Grants and advances - Capital Grant VOIP 170,000              -
Accrued expenses 88,720                137,503
Amounts owing to department 650,000              666,000
Accrued salaries and related costs 142,439              26,405
Total current liabilities 1,129,804            839,086

(a) Income received in advance comprises:
      Student fees and charges 78,645                9,178

78,645                9,178

30 Equity
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the College.  The Government holds the equity interest in the College on behalf of 
the community.  The asset revaluation reserve represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Contributed equity
Balance at start of year 176,635              176,635

Balance at end of year 176,635              176,635

Reserves
Asset Revaluation Reserve
Balance at start of year 1,368,142            -
Net revaluation increments
Land 57,900                -
Buildings 2,728,388            1,368,142
Balance at end of year 4,154,430            1,368,142

Accumulated surplus

Balance at start of year 9,867,772            8,892,255
Result for the period 12,465                975,517
Other adjustments - Prior Period Error (348,128)             -
Balance at end of year 9,532,108            9,867,772            

31 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement
Reconciliation of cash

Cash on hand 4,070                  3,870
Cash at bank 1,300,125            1,155,729
Term Deposits 1,788,283            1,447,614
Cash at bank comprises operating account and short term (two month) term deposits, interest payable on maturity. 3,092,478            2,607,213

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operating activities

Net Cost of Services (11,631,868)        (9,493,562)

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 8) 688,569              547,453
Doubtful debts expense (note 12) 23,504                25,096
Superannuation expense (note 6) 603,042              656,517
Resources received free of charge (note 21) 843,515              592,516
Net loss on sale of property, plant  and equipment (note  20) 39,753                (11,539)
Losses and write-offs (excludes cash shortages/thefts of money) 28,370                6,114

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (c) 220,252              (283,926)
Current inventories 20,093                24,607
Other current assets (93,531)               (2,217)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables (c) 1,560                  (3,129)
Current provisions 62,427                (482,350)
Other current liabilities 120,718              561,342
Non-current Provisions 51,707                91,428

Net GST receipts/(payments) (a) (8,737)                 128,236
Change in GST in receivables/payables (b) 59,151                (30,314)

Net cash used in operating activities (8,971,474)          (7,673,728)

(a)  This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions
(b) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables
(c) Note that the ATO receivable /payable in respect in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these 
items as they are not reconciling items

Non-cash financing and investing activities

There were no material non cash financing or investing activities undertaken with external parties during the year.

Cash at the end of the financial year, as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the related items in the Balance
Sheet as follows:
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2006 2005

32 Commitments

Capital expenditure commitments

Within 1 year 170,000              -
170,000              -

The capital commitments include amounts for:
Communications Upgrade - VOIP 170,000              

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Within 1 year 27,607                28,488
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 28,168                36,836
Later than 5 years 117                     -

55,892                65,323

These commitments are all inclusive of GST

33 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

The College Council is not aware of any contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at balance date.

34 Events occurring after balance sheet date

The College Council is not aware of any other matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial year to the date of this report
which have significantly affected or may significantly affect the activities of the College, the results of those activities or the state of affairs of the 
College in the ensuing or any subsequent years.

35 Explanatory Statement

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense are shown below.  Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% of Estimate (or $50,000).

Significant variations between estimated and actual results for 06
2006 2006

Estimate Actual Variation Variation
$ $ $ %

Expenses

(a) Employee benefits expense 7,154,078          7,492,895 (338,817)             -5%
(b) Supplies and services 2,015,171          2,665,305 (650,134)             -32%
(c) Depreciation expense 558,402            688,569 (130,167)             -23%
(d) Grants and subsidies 37,410              29,105              8,305                  22%
(e) Cost of sales -                    152,701 (152,701)             
(f) Loss on disposal of non-current assets -                    39,753 (39,753)               
(g) Other expenses 507,403            1,048,914 (541,511)             -107%

(a) Employee Expenses

Expenses were higher than the estimate due to the 2005 expenses, upon which the 2006 estimate was based, included a $400,000 credit to employee expenses arising from a reduction in employee
benefit provisions from 2004.

(b) Supplies and services

Increase was due to greater Resources Received Free of Charge than expected and additional expenses due to under accrual of audit free from 2005.

(c) Depreciation

Greater than expected depreciation due to revaluation of buildings and higher balances in plant and equipment due to purchases late in 2005 being depreciated for a full year in 2006. 

(d) Grants and subsidies

Lower than expected apprentice travel and living away from home allowances paid to students due to decline in SCH. 

(e) Cost of Sales 

Not budgeted for in estimates at this level.  Estimates based upon trading profits on a net rather than gross basis. 

(f) Loss on disposal of non-current assets

Not budgeted for in estimates.

(g) Other expenses

Higher than expected due to provision for refunds to the Department for shortfall in SCH not anticipated in the estimates.

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial 
statements, are payable as follows:

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:
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2006 2006
Estimate Actual Variation Variation

Income $ $ $ %
Revenue
(a) Fee for service 472,272            313,218            159,054              34%
(b) Sales -                    198,314 (198,314)             
(c) Interest revenue 86,574              104,219 (17,645)               -20%
(d) Other revenue 773,276            92,007              681,269              88%

(e) State funds 9,237,698          10,800,682 (1,562,984)          -17%
(f) Resources received free of charge 604,366            843,515 (239,149)             -40%

(a) Fee for service

Fewer course were run due to lower in demand for courses arising from economic downturn in the Wheatbelt.

(b) Sales

Not budgeted for in estimates at this level.  Estimates based upon trading profits on a net rather than gross basis. 

(c) Interest revenue

Greater than expected due to higher interest rates during the year.

(d) Other revenue

Over estimation of other income and grants receivable.

(e) State Funds

Greater than expected DPA Funding arising from subsequent amendments to profile activity including Skills Shortage Equipment allocation of $200,000.

(f) Resources Received Free of Charge

Greater than expected resources received free of charge.

2006 2005 Variance Variation
$ $ $ %

Income

Expenses

(a) Employee benefits expense 7,492,895          6,854,025          638,870              9%
(b) Supplies and services 2,665,305          2,187,090          478,215              22%
(c) Depreciation expense 688,569            547,453            141,116              26%
(d) Grants and subsidies 29,105              36,677 (7,572)                 -21%
(e) Capital user charge 965,365            872,498            92,867                11%
(f) Other expenses 1,048,914          497,454            551,460              111%

(a) Employee Expenses

Expenses were higher than those of 2005 primarily because the 2005 expense included a $400,000 credit arising from the reduction in employee benefit provisions from 2004.
In 2006, the provisions for employee benefits increased resulting in an increase in employee expenses.  The combined effect of these changes in provisions between 2004 
and 2005 was $527,000, which accounts for the majority of the increase. . 

(b) Supplies and services

Resources received free of charge accounts for $250,000 of this increase, higher accounting costs in 2006 $58,000, additional minor building works expenditure of approximately
$60,000 and an under accrual of external audit fee in 2005 another $60,000.

(c) Depreciation

Greater than expected depreciation due to revaluation of buildings and higher balances in plant and equipment due to purchases late in 2005 being depreciated for a full year in 2006. 

(d) Grants and subsidies

Lower than expected apprentice travel and LAHA expenses due to decline in SCH. 

(e) Capital User charge

Adjustment for prior year CUC calculation in June 2006. 

(f) Other expenses

Higher than expected due to provision for refund to the Department for shortfall in SCH was not provided for in the estimates.  Profile refund was posted directly to State funds in 2005. 

Significant Variances between actual results for 2006 and 2005



C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE Annual Report 2006 Page 74

 

 

C Y O'Connor College of TAFE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS 06GLACT 05GLACT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

2006 2005

2006 2005 Variance Variation
$ $ $ %

Income

Revenue
(a) Fee for service 313,218            463,612 (150,394)             -32%
(b) Interest revenue 104,219            79,132              25,087                32%
(c) Other expenses 92,007              162,668 (70,661)               -43%

(d) State funds 10,800,682        9,876,563          924,119              9%
(e) Resources received free of charge 843,515            592,516            250,999              42%

(a) Fee for service

Fewer courses were run due to lower in demand for courses arising from economic downturn in the Wheatbelt.

(b) Interest revenue

Increased interest rates from previous year.

(c) Other expenses

Lower sponsorship income was received. 

(d) State Funds

Greater profile activity was estimated and treatment of provision for refund was different.  In 2005 the college provided for a refund of $666,000 directly as a reduction in revenue.
This year, the college has provided for the refund as an expense item and included this in other expenses.

(e) Resources Received Free of Charge

Greater than expected resources received free of charge.

36 Financial Instruments

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Financial instruments held by the College are cash and cash equivalents, 
and receivables and payables. The College has limited exposure to financial risks. The College's 
overall risk management program focus on managing the risk identified below:

Credit Risk
The College trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The College has policies in place to ensure 
that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition 
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the College's exposure to bad debts 
is minimal. There are no significant concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
The College has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by 
monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Interest Rate Risk Exposure
The following table details the College's exposure to interest rate risk at reporting date.

Weighted Average 
Effective Interest 

Rate

Variable Interest 
Rate

Within  1 year 1-2 Years 2-3 Years  3-4 Years  4-5 Years  More than 5 years  Non-Interest 
Bearing

 Total 

2006 % $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 4.86% 1,300,125           1,788,283          -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      4,070                3,092,478
Receivables -                     -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      915,620            915,620
Other financial assets 97,728              97,728

1,300,125           1,788,283          -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      1,017,418          4,105,826
Financial Liabilities
Payables -                     -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      490,711            490,711
Employee Benefits 1,156,530          1,156,530
Other -                     -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      1,129,804          1,129,804

-                     -                    -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      2,777,045          2,777,045

Weighted Average 
Effective Interest 

Rate

Variable Interest 
Rate

Within  1 year 1-2 Years 2-3 Years  3-4 Years  4-5 Years  More than 5 years  Non-Interest 
Bearing

 Total 

2005 $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 4.60% 1,155,729           1,447,614          -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      3,870                2,607,213
Receivables -                     -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      662,631            662,631
Other financial assets -                     -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      4,197                4,197

1,155,729           1,447,614          -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      670,698            3,274,041
Financial Liabilities
Payables -                     -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      3,153                3,153
Employee Benefits -                     -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      1,042,396          1,042,396
Other 839,086            839,086

-                     -                    -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      1,884,635          1,884,635

Net Fair Values
The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements are not materially
different from their net fair values.

Fixed Interest Rate Maturity

Fixed Interest Rate Maturity
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2006 2005

2006 2005 Variance Variation
$ $ $ %

Income

Revenue
(a) Fee for service 313,218            463,612 (150,394)             -32%
(b) Interest revenue 104,219            79,132              25,087                32%
(c) Other expenses 92,007              162,668 (70,661)               -43%

(d) State funds 10,800,682        9,876,563          924,119              9%
(e) Resources received free of charge 843,515            592,516            250,999              42%

(a) Fee for service

Fewer courses were run due to lower in demand for courses arising from economic downturn in the Wheatbelt.

(b) Interest revenue

Increased interest rates from previous year.

(c) Other expenses

Lower sponsorship income was received. 

(d) State Funds

Greater profile activity was estimated and treatment of provision for refund was different.  In 2005 the college provided for a refund of $666,000 directly as a reduction in revenue.
This year, the college has provided for the refund as an expense item and included this in other expenses.

(e) Resources Received Free of Charge

Greater than expected resources received free of charge.

36 Financial Instruments

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Financial instruments held by the College are cash and cash equivalents, 
and receivables and payables. The College has limited exposure to financial risks. The College's 
overall risk management program focus on managing the risk identified below:

Credit Risk
The College trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The College has policies in place to ensure 
that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition 
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the College's exposure to bad debts 
is minimal. There are no significant concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
The College has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by 
monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Interest Rate Risk Exposure
The following table details the College's exposure to interest rate risk at reporting date.

Weighted Average 
Effective Interest 

Rate

Variable Interest 
Rate

Within  1 year 1-2 Years 2-3 Years  3-4 Years  4-5 Years  More than 5 years  Non-Interest 
Bearing

 Total 

2006 % $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 4.86% 1,300,125           1,788,283          -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      4,070                3,092,478
Receivables -                     -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      915,620            915,620
Other financial assets 97,728              97,728

1,300,125           1,788,283          -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      1,017,418          4,105,826
Financial Liabilities
Payables -                     -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      490,711            490,711
Employee Benefits 1,156,530          1,156,530
Other -                     -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      1,129,804          1,129,804

-                     -                    -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      2,777,045          2,777,045

Weighted Average 
Effective Interest 

Rate

Variable Interest 
Rate

Within  1 year 1-2 Years 2-3 Years  3-4 Years  4-5 Years  More than 5 years  Non-Interest 
Bearing

 Total 

2005 $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 4.60% 1,155,729           1,447,614          -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      3,870                2,607,213
Receivables -                     -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      662,631            662,631
Other financial assets -                     -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      4,197                4,197

1,155,729           1,447,614          -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      670,698            3,274,041
Financial Liabilities
Payables -                     -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      3,153                3,153
Employee Benefits -                     -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      1,042,396          1,042,396
Other 839,086            839,086

-                     -                    -                    -                    -                    -                      -                      1,884,635          1,884,635

Net Fair Values
The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements are not materially
different from their net fair values.

Fixed Interest Rate Maturity

Fixed Interest Rate Maturity
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2006 2005

37 Remuneration of Members of the Accountable Authority and Senior Officers

Remuneration of members of the Accountable Authority
The number of members of the Accountable Authority whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation and other benefits for 
the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

$
       $1 - $10,000 5                         3

$150,001 - $160,000 1                         -
$160,001 - $170,001 -                      1

The total remuneration of the members of the Accountable Authority is: 156,021              162,398

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of members of the Accountable Authority.

No members of the Accountable Authority are members of the Pension Scheme.

Remuneration of Senior Officers
The number of Senior Officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable Authority, whose total of fees,
 salaries, superannuation and other benefits receivable for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

$

$20,001 - $30,000 1                         -
$40,001 - $50,000 1                         -
$50,001 - $60,000 -                      1
$60,001 - $70,000 1                         -

$90,001 - $100,000 -                      1
$100,001 - $110,000 -                      2
$110,001  -$120,000 1                         -

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 240,876              323,948

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of members of the Accountable Authority.

No Senior Officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

38 Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators 64,900                59,000

The Expense is included in note 7 'Supplies and Services'

39 Related Bodies

The College has no related bodies.

40 Affiliated Bodies

The College has no affiliated bodies.

41 Supplementary Financial Information

Write-Offs
Public property 9,306                  143
Bad Debts 2,564                  8,532
Other cash shortages and rounding 39                       (43)

Loses Through Theft, Defaults And Other Causes
Losses of public and other moneys and public and other property through theft, default or otherwise 48,492                -
Amount recovered -                      (2,518)

Gifts of Public Property
Gifts of Public Property provided by the College - student prizes and awards 1,409                  165

42 Schedule of Income and Expenditure by Service

The college provides only one service (as defined by Treasurer's Instruction 1101 (2) (viii)) and that is Vocational Education and 
Training Delivery.
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Northam 
(Central Administration)

Lot 1 Hutt Street
PO Box 498

Northam  WA  6401
Ph:  9622 6777

Narrogin
59 Fortune Street

PO Box 457
Narrogin  WA  6312

Ph:  9881 9000

Merredin
42 Throssell Road

PO Box 542
Merredin  WA  6415

Ph:  9081 3555

Moora
242 Berkshire Valley Road

PO Box 329
Moora  WA  6510

Ph:  9651 0111

Campus contact details

Freecall 1800 627 256
www.cyoctafe.wa.edu.au


